The role of the liver in metabolic syndrome

Obesity - insulin resistance - NAFLD



Pathophysiology, clinical symptoms and treatment options

Prof. Dr. Ali Canbay, Magdeburg University Hospital (Germany) Dr. Jan-Peter Sowa, Prof. Dr. Guido Gerken University Hospital, University Duisburg-Essen (Germany)



The information contained in this brochure is intended exclusively for physicians and pharmacists. The contents reflect current developments in medical science. For information on indications and dosage schemes of the drugs please refer to the current SPCs (summary of product characteristics). Product presentations, compositions, indications and safety information as referenced herein may differ from those in your country. For further information, please contact Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH, Freiburg (Germany) or your local Falk partner.

Publisher

DR. FALK PHARMA GmbH



Leinenweberstr. 5 79108 Freiburg Germany

www.drfalkpharma.com

© 2018 Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH All rights reserved.

The role of the liver in metabolic syndrome

Obesity - insulin resistance - NAFLD

Pathophysiology, clinical symptoms and treatment options

Prof. Dr. Ali Canbay, Magdeburg University Hospital (Germany) Dr. Jan-Peter Sowa, Prof. Dr. Guido Gerken University Hospital, University Duisburg-Essen (Germany)

Preface

Metabolic syndrome, which affects approx. 25% of our population, is a combination of different risk factors and causes, including obesity, arterial hypertension, elevated blood glucose and lipid levels and a state of permanent inflammation. This condition is associated with an increased risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, type 2 diabetes and, in women, polycystic ovary syndrome. Excessive food intake, particularly of junk food, and a sedentary lifestyle are the main causes of metabolic syndrome. As a vital organ for metabolism, the liver is also affected by and plays an important role in metabolic syndrome. High-calorie diets have been shown to cause insulin resistance and increase the likelihood of developing non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). High-calorie diets and resulting obesity are the main causes of NAFLD. It is therefore hardly surprising that NAFLD is now the most common liver disease in industrialized nations (due to the spread of the "Western" lifestyle). NAFLD clinically manifests itself as fatty degeneration of the liver, while the progressive, chronic form (non-alcoholic steatohepatitis) is characterized by fatty degeneration, inflammation and ballooning of the liver cells, with or without fibrosis. Despite intensive research, the pathophysiological mechanisms by which the disease progresses are still unknown. It is certain, however, that a rise in the frequency of metabolic syndrome will result in an increased prevalence of NAFLD-related cirrhosis and, ultimately, hepatocellular carcinoma.

This brochure aims to show the complexity of metabolic syndrome and the central role of the liver in this context by looking at clinical aspects and pathophysiological mechanisms and showing possible preventive and therapeutic measures.

Authors:

- Prof. Dr. Ali Canbay Department of Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Infectious Diseases Magdeburg University Hospital Otto-von-Guericke-University Magdeburg Leipziger Str. 44 39120 Magdeburg Germany
- Dr. Jan-Peter Sowa, Prof. Dr. Guido Gerken Center for Internal Medicine Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology University Hospital, University Duisburg-Essen Hufelandstr. 55 45122 Essen Germany

Contents

Metabolic syndrome

Introduction	4
Obesity	8
Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ	10
Insulin resistance and diabetes	15
Cardiovascular components	16
Other affected organs	17
Metabolic syndrome of the liver – NAFLD	
Metabolic function of hepatocytes	18
NAFLD epidemic	20
Possible ways of liver damage	24
Specific risks of NAFLD	28
Treatment options for metabolic syndrome,	
obesity and NAFLD	
Lifestyle changes	31
Pharmacotherapy	35
Surgical treatment options for metabolic syndrome	38
Endoscopic treatment options	41
Conclusion and clinical summary	42
Appendix	
Patient questionnaire:	
What is your risk of developing metabolic liver disease?	44
Patient advice for making lifestyle changes to prevent	46
overweight, diabetes and metabolic liver diseases	

Metabolic syndrome criteria

Obesity plus two of the following factors:

- Hyperlipidemia
- Arterial hypertension
- Elevated fasting glucose levels

Around 25–30% of the German population have metabolic syndrome.

Metabolic syndrome

Introduction

The International Diabetes Federation (IDF) estimates that between 20% and 25% of the world's adults are currently suffering from metabolic syndrome. According to the IDF definition in 2005 ⁽¹⁾, the following criteria must be fulfilled before an individual can be diagnosed with metabolic syndrome:

- Abdominal obesity with a waist circumference of \geq 94 cm in European men and \geq 80 cm in European women (different values apply to other ethnic groups); if body mass index (BMI) is > 30 kg/m², abdominal obesity is presumed to be present and waist circumference no longer needs to be measured ⁽²⁾.

Plus two of the following factors:

- Elevated triglyceride levels \geq 150 mg/dL / 1.7 mmol/L or specific medical treatment for this condition
- Reduced HDL cholesterol levels < 40 mg/dL (1.03 mmol/L) in men and < 50 mg/dL (1.29 mmol/L) in women or specific medical treatment for this condition
- Increased arterial blood pressure with systolic RR \geq 130 mmHg or diastolic RR \geq 85 mmHg or specific medical treatment for previously diagnosed arterial hypertension
- Elevated fasting plasma glucose levels \geq 100 mg/dL (5.6 mmol/L) or type 2 diabetes

Metabolic syndrome itself is a significant risk factor for concomitant and secondary diseases, such as cardiovascular diseases, renal diseases, hormonal disorders and an increased risk of tumors *(figure 1).* According to the German National Health Interview and Examination Survey 1998, the prevalence of metabolic syndrome in Germany was 23.8%, or around 12 million people ⁽³⁾. In a cohort study carried out in north Germany between 1997 and 2001, 28% of the subjects had metabolic syndrome ⁽⁴⁾. 27.5% of the 2143 participants who did not suffer from metabolic syndrome at the beginning of the study developed the disease within five years. Although they only show a slight increase in incidence, these figures demonstrate that a substantial proportion of the population is affected by metabolic syndrome.

Figure 1

Metabolic syndrome as a significant risk factor for numerous concomitant and secondary diseases of the entire organism

Metabolic syndrome is caused by morbid obesity and excessive consumption of high-calorie and high-fat food. This has a negative impact on different organ systems: digestive organs (non-alcoholic fatty liver disease [NAFLD], diabetes), adipose tissue (obesity, dyslipidemia), cardiovascular system (high blood pressure) as well as the reproductive organs (e.g. polycystic ovary syndrome [PCOS]).

Brain

- Changes in appetite and feeling of fullness
- Psychological pressure related to obesity

Heart

 Accumulation of fat on heart muscles and in coronary vessels
 Atherosclerosis

Pancreas

- Impaired glucose balance
- Impaired insulin secretion



Liver

- Accumulation of fat
- De novo lipogenesis
- Changes in production of apolipoproteins, LDL, HDL

Adipose tissue

- Increase in the amount of adipose tissue caused by hypertrophy/hyperplasia
- Major changes in adipokine secretion



Gastrointestinal tract - Changes in the microbiome

Kidneys

- Indirect damage caused by long-term high blood pressure



Release/absorption of fats Release of fats Adipokine secretion Secretion of proteins, LDL, HDL and clotting factors from the liver Effects of high blood pressure

Reproductive organs

- Changes in hormone balance
- Reduced fertility (to infertility)
- Erectile dysfunction (in men)

Main cause of metabolic syndrome: the "Western lifestyle"

Genetic predisposition presumed to have a small impact (except PNPLA3).

Epigenetic effects may account for a hereditary component of being overweight. Currently unpublished data from the Heinz Nixdorf Recall study (of almost 5000 people in the Ruhr area of Germany) suggest that around 30% of the German population suffers from metabolic syndrome ⁽⁵⁾.

The main cause of metabolic syndrome is excessive consumption of often high-sugar and high-fat foods combined with little exercise and physical activity, leading to overnutrition. "Western" diets mainly consist of highly processed, ready-made food with high sugar and fat contents, as it is inexpensive and can be prepared quickly and easily. At the same time, physical activity on a daily basis is reduced to a minimum as most journeys are made by car or using elevators and escalators. Furthermore, the majority of modern jobs involve sitting – usually in front of a computer – or standing ⁽⁶⁾. If individuals are also not active outside of work and spend all of their free time in front of the television, computer or video consoles, they will very quickly start to consume many more calories than they burn.

Genetic factors play a considerably smaller role in the afore mentioned development. Different gene variants that are responsible for metabolism and/or storing nutrients and predispose individuals to becoming overweight or developing diabetes and other components of metabolic syndrome are presumed to exist ^(7,8). However, studies have shown that physical activity can counterbalance the negative effects of 12 gene variants ⁽⁹⁾. A "hereditary" component of being overweight could be the result of epigenetic mechanisms or acquired behavioral patterns ⁽⁸⁾. Exceptions may include PNPLA3, a gene that codes for the adiponutrin protein ⁽¹⁰⁾. PNPLA3 polymorphism has been shown to be highly associated with overweight and obesity.

Animal experiments have also provided striking evidence for epigenetic effects ⁽¹¹⁾; such studies have yet to be carried out on humans, however. Despite this, expectant mothers should still continue to pay attention to their diets as nutrition during pregnancy and breastfeeding has not been ruled out from influencing the epigenetics of the embryo. Furthermore, increased consumption of fats during pregnancy is known to cause larger fat deposits in newborns that remain there until infancy ⁽¹²⁾.

The influence of the microbiome in the development of metabolic syndrome has also been under discussion for a relatively short time. The number and ratio of different bacterial species in the intestine seem to play an important role in healthy digestion as well as to influence available nutrient composition ⁽¹³⁾. It has already been shown that fecal microbiota transplantation from subjects with healthy digestive systems does indeed ease the symptoms of intestinal inflammation, caused by Clostridium difficile, for example ⁽¹⁴⁾. In a pilot study with a small number of subjects, fecal microbiota transplantation also reduced insulin resistance, albeit only temporarily ⁽¹⁵⁾, and possible side effects are not without controversy ^(16,17). Obese patients have a smaller diversity of intestinal flora than those of an average weight. In particular, species of the Firmicutes phylum are less represented, causing species of the Proteobacteria group to occur in larger numbers.

Studies have demonstrated that successful weight loss leads to an increase in different species and, above all, in species of the Firmicutes phylum ^(13,15). They have also shown an inverse correlation of Helicobacter pylori prevalence with obesity ⁽¹⁸⁾. It is still unclear, however, whether intestinal flora changes are a product of unhealthy eating and therefore just a symptom of being overweight or having metabolic syndrome, or whether certain microbiome compositions increase the risk of becoming overweight and developing metabolic syndrome. As a result, current discussions are also centering on whether antibiotic treatments during childhood cause changes in the microbiome which increase the likelihood of obesity in later life ⁽¹⁹⁾.

Influence of the microbiome is probable but still uncertain.

Inverse correlation of Helicobacter pylori prevalence with obesity

Obesity = BMI > 30 kg/m²

Increase in obesity among children

Obesity

Overweight and obesity are not only important components of metabolic syndrome, but also cause a high risk of developing metabolic syndrome. The prevalence of obesity has increased in Germany over the last few years and may have reached a plateau. However, already overweight individuals seem to be getting heavier ⁽²⁰⁾, as the number of people with morbid obesity (BMI > 40 kg/m²) is continuing to rise ⁽²¹⁾. In 2008, the German Federal Ministry for Food, Agriculture and Consumer Protection published the National Nutrition Survey. Data about nutrition, lifestyle and consumer behavior were collected from 20,000 subjects ⁽²²⁾. 45% of the men and 30% of the women surveyed were classified as overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m² and < 30 kg/m²). 21% of the men and women respectively were obese, i.e. had a BMI > 30 kg/m².

The number of overweight/obese individuals increased with age. BMI decreased with higher levels of education, higher net income per capita and higher social class. A total of 12% of those surveyed were following a diet, 7% of which due to an illness and 5% of which to lose weight. Current data from the Robert Koch Institute (RKI) substantiate the trend towards an increase in overweight children. According to the KiGGS study (German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents) conducted by the RKI, 15% of children and adolescents (3–17 years old) were overweight in 2006, a third of which were even classified as obese ⁽²³⁾. Since then, the number of overweight children and adolescents is likely to have increased further. This means that diseases associated with overweight develop as early as in adolescence and middle age.

Current figures indicate that 33.6% of adults in the USA are overweight and 34.9% obese ⁽²⁴⁾. These figures are 31.8% and 16.9% in children and adolescents respectively. For children and adolescents in particular, these figures have increased dramatically over the last ten years (in 2004, 17% of individuals aged between 2 and 19 were estimated to be overweight or obese) ^(25,26). This trend has shown no sign of stopping. This development is not limited to "Western" countries, however, but affects all societies experiencing industrialization and a "westernization" of lifestyle habits. These include the world's most populated countries, China and India ^(27,28).

These data point towards a global obesity epidemic associated with a range of comorbidities. Taking into account the considerable follow-up costs for the healthcare sector, particularly due to the large number of people affected, action needs to be taken to educate the public and recognize the problem on a social as well as personal level. As the options for therapeutic intervention are extremely limited, prevention is an essential part of tackling this health problem.

China and India are also experiencing an increase in obesity prevalence. Adipose tissue is not a pure storage organ but interacts with the entire organism.

Adipocytes produce signaling molecules (adipokines).

Leptin resistance

Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ

Overweight and obesity are ultimately the hypertrophy of adipose tissue ⁽²⁹⁾. The volume of adipose tissue can be increased by two processes: hyperplasia and hypertrophy of fat cells ⁽³⁰⁾. The extent to which each of these processes occurs appears to depend on individual, but as of yet unknown, factors. Hyperplasia and hypertrophy of the fat cells may occur to different extents in the subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue of the same patient (30,31). It is now known, however, that an increase in the size of fat cells, i.e. a morphological change, causes more extensive metabolic alterations ^(32,33). The size of adipocytes in the omentum is strongly associated with metabolic state, which is not the case for subcutaneous adipocytes (34,35). In principle, abundance of visceral fat (in the abdominal cavity) seems to be more linked to metabolic changes and cardiovascular risk factors than subcutaneous fat (in the hypodermis) ⁽³⁶⁾. This may be attributed to different adipokine patterns of these fat deposits ⁽³⁷⁾. Furthermore, current studies indicate that insulin resistance is most strongly associated with intrahepatic fat accumulation ⁽³⁸⁾. In this case, however, fat is not stored by fat cells, but by hepatocytes (liver cells).

Adipocytes produce a range of different signaling molecules (adipokines), which have various functions (figure 2 and table 1). In individuals of an average weight, adiponectin is produced by adipocytes in sufficient quantities. Adiponectin promotes insulin sensitivity in the liver and muscles (39,40), probably via adiponectin receptors AdipoR1 and AdipoR2^(41,42). It also seems to stimulate insulin secretion in pancreatic β cells ⁽⁴³⁾. Adipokine secretion is reduced in obese patients ⁽⁴⁴⁾, probably due to hypertrophied fat cells. Leptin is a transmitter substance that signals satiety, both from a postprandial high fat content in the blood and from full fat reserves, i.e. large adipocytes ⁽⁴⁰⁾. In obese patients, the concentration of leptin in the blood is directly proportional to the extent of obesity ⁽⁴⁵⁾. Leptin resistance will develop if leptin is continuously secreted from hypertrophied adipocytes - similar to insulin resistance as described below (46). Leptin resistance reduces the feeling of satiety and also seems to influence the reproductive organs as well as the secretion of thyroid hormones via the hunger and satiety signals processed in the hypothalamus. Furthermore, leptin inhibits the secretion

Figure 2

Effect of adipokines (adipose tissue hormones) on the organism

Contrary to earlier presumptions, adipose tissue is not an inert storage compartment for fat. Fat cells (adipocytes) produce different signaling molecules, known as adipokines, which influence metabolism and insulin action in various organs. FGF21 = fibroblast growth factor 21; TNF α = tumor necrosis factor α ; MCP1 = monocyte chemotactic protein 1; β cells: insulin-producing cells in the pancreas.

Adiponektin

- Reduced levels in overweight individuals!
- Promotes insulin sensitivity in the liver and muscles
- Stimulates insulin secretion

Leptin

- Provides feeling of satiety
- Resistance in overweight individuals
- Inhibits insulin release

FGF21

- Viability of β cells
- Glucose uptake + fatty acid oxidation in hepatocytes
- Probable resistance in overweight individuals

Resistin

- Promotes insulin resistance
- Promotes glucose intolerance

Source:

Blausen.com staff. "Blausen gallery 2014". Wikiversity Journal of Medicine. DOI:10.15347/wjm/2014.010. ISSN 20018762

$\text{TNF}\alpha$ and MCP1

- Proinflammatory cytokines
- Wide range of effects
- Induce inflammatory milieu in the entire organism

Known effects of adipokines (adipose tissue hormones) and hepatokines (transmitter substances from the liver)

Adipokine/hepatokine	Effect on metabolism in individuals of normal weight
Adiponektin	 Promotes insulin sensitivity in the liver and muscle Promotes insulin secretion
Leptin	 Signals feeling of satiety to the hypothalamus Indicates full fat reserves Inhibits insulin secretion
Ghrelin	 Signals hunger High levels before eating, lower levels after eating Weight homeostasis/energy regulation Antidepressant effects
Visfatin	- Increased production in visceral adipose tissue - Autocrine/paracrine effect (increases fat accumulation) - Also produced by β cells and induces insulin secretion
Resistin	Promotes blood flow to the pancreas
FGF21 (fibroblast growth factor)	Promotes uptake of glucose in the liver fatty acid oxidation and gluconeogenesis in the liver adiponectin release in adipose tissue viability of pancreatic β cells
TNFα (tumor necrosis factor α)	 Recruits immune cells Stimulates cell proliferation or cell death (depending on the cell environment and status) Pleiotropic effects
MCP1 (monocyte chemotactic protein 1 or CCL2)	 Chemokine that recruits monocytes to sites of inflammation Controls differentiation of cells (e.g. bone-degrading osteoclasts) Also produced by adipocytes
Apelin	 Inhibits insulin secretion Promotes utilization of glucose by muscle
Chemerin	 Reduces uptake of insulin and glucose Stimulates chemotaxis Expressed in the liver, (white) adipose tissue, intestine, kidneys and thrombocytes
Betatrophin (ANGPTL8)	- Role in regulating serum lipid levels

Status in overweight/obese individuals	Outlook
Reduced production, making it less effective	Has yet to be determined as a matter of routine. Lower levels could indicate early metabolic changes and possibly even NAFLD progression
Excess production of leptin, causing resistance to develop	Treatments against leptin resistance are in the early stages of development
Low basic production and low levels of fluctuation before and after mealtimes	Possible use in monitoring after bariatric surgery (here: strong reductions in ghrelin levels), but no foreseeable use against metabolic syndrome
Increased, probably causing high quantities of fat to accumulate in visceral adipose tissue	Contradictory results in different models, pleiotropic effects need to be investigated by better studies
Increased production promotes insulin resistance and glucose intolerance	Current state of knowledge too poor for prognosis
Increased in overweight individuals Probable resistance	Current state of knowledge too poor for prognosis
Elevated due to continuous excess production of immune cells in the adipose tissue, causing an underlying, permanent state of inflammation in the body	Pleiotropic spectrum of regulation and activity, probably too unspecific for treatment, possible diagnostic significance
Increased production by adipocytes in obese individuals, reduces insulin sensitivity and glucose uptake by muscle cells, thus promoting insulin resistance	Pleiotropic effects probably too strong; only suitable for specific treatment approaches
Increased, possible resistance	Current state of knowledge too poor for prognosis
Stimulates insulin resistance (e.g. vascular), proinflammatory effect	Different isoforms are expressed depending on the tissue. Mechanisms still in the early stages of being clarified, prognosis not possible
Unknown	Only discovered recently and initially identified as a proliferation signal for β cells, but this has yet to be confirmed for humans

Resistin

Apelin

FGF21

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{TNF} \alpha \\ \text{Ghrelin} \end{array}$

of insulin from pancreatic β cells, thus lowering the risk of atherosclerosis ^(40,47). Resistin is also produced by fat cells – higher levels are found in those with obesity. It promotes insulin resistance and glucose intolerance ⁽⁴⁸⁾, but also helps to increase blood flow to the pancreas ⁽⁴⁹⁾. Apelin is an adipokine produced both by adipocytes as well as β cells. and may therefore be an autocrine and paracrine regulator ⁽⁴⁰⁾. Higher levels of apelin are also found in the serum of obese individuals. Apelin inhibits insulin secretion and promotes utilization of glucose by muscle (50,51). Severely overweight individuals may also have a resistance to apelin, the mechanisms of which are still largely unclear. FGF21 is another protective adipokine, which is also produced by hepatocytes ⁽⁵²⁾. In addition to increasing glucose uptake in hepatocytes (53) and stimulating fatty acid oxidation and gluconeogenesis in the liver ⁽⁵⁴⁾, FGF21 also increases the release of adiponectin from adipose tissue (55) and is presumed to improve the viability of β cells ⁽⁴⁰⁾. Serum FGF21 levels are elevated in overweight individuals, suggesting that they have developed a resistance ⁽⁴⁰⁾. However, additional studies must be conducted to shed light on any mechanisms of action and links between the adipokines described. Other adipokines that are secreted from adipocytes in larger quantities in obese compared with healthy individuals are TNF α , a proinflammatory, pleiotropic factor that may induce cell death or proliferation depending on the cell environment (56,57), and ghrelin, the "hunger hormone", which also has an antidepressant effect and is secreted to a larger extent following lack of sleep (58). Table 1 provides an overview of the effects of the adipokines listed here as well as a few newly discovered molecules classified as adipokines or hepatokines (transmitter substances produced in the liver). However, many of the signaling molecules that have only been discovered recently are still too under-researched to be used as diagnostic markers, let alone therapeutic targets.

In addition to adipose tissue hormones, hypertrophied adipocytes also release fatty acids into the blood due to increased lipolysis, despite already high concentrations of lipid components ⁽²⁹⁾. This hyperlipidemia is one of the components of metabolic syndrome and is directly associated with the risk for cardiovascular diseases and, specifically, with atherosclerosis.

Insulin resistance and diabetes

In terms of function, insulin resistance is considered to be an important component of metabolic syndrome. Insulin resistance occurs when the pancreas continuously releases excess insulin. Insulin ensures that glucose and fats can be absorbed by cells - particularly in the liver and muscles - in the absorption phase after food intake. However, dramatic increases in insulin levels, either permanently or for a short period, cause overexpression of the insulin receptors, preventing the cells from reacting to physiological insulin releases (59,60). Liver cells in particular then break down their glycogen stores to release glucose into the organism ⁽⁶¹⁾. If this continues for a longer period, the resulting insulin resistance will lead to the development of type 2 diabetes. This is presumed to be due to the permanent strain on β cells, which results in increased cell death and ultimately underproduction of insulin (62,63). Insulin resistance also promotes the development of NAFLD, alters adipocyte signaling, causing them to release proinflammatory adipokines, resulting in increased uptake of fatty acids by adipocytes. This causes already excess fat mass to increase further. Insulin resistance also has an impact on muscle cells, including the heart, thus increasing cardiovascular problems. It is not yet clear which factor ultimately leads to insulin resistance or if several mechanisms are involved. Another possibility is that, depending on individual development, insulin resistance is caused as a result of changes to the nutrients provided by a liver affected by fatty degeneration ^(64,65). Secretion of adipokine from adipose tissue could also cause the pancreas to release insulin in an uncontrolled manner, however.

Intriguingly, approx. 25% of obese patients are "metabolically healthy" ⁽⁶⁶⁾, i.e. do not have diabetes or insulin resistance and seem to be at lower risk of developing cardiovascular problems. The underlying mechanisms of this are still largely unclear ⁽⁶⁷⁾. However, some studies have identified better fitness levels as the main reason for "metabolically healthy" obese individuals ⁽⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰⁾. At the very least, exercise could protect overweight or obese individuals from the worst consequences, even if this does not lead to weight loss.

Insulin resistance stimulates release of proinflammatory cytokines from adipocytes.

"Metabolically healthy" obesity

Dyslipidemia promotes atherosclerosis.

Cardiovascular components

Cardiovascular diseases are probably the most well-known sequelae of being overweight and/or metabolic syndrome. They play an important role in increased mortality and morbidity in overweight individuals and are ultimately based on two factors. The first factor is dyslipidemia, prolonged levels of which significantly increase the risk of atherosclerosis ⁽⁷¹⁾. Secondly, changes in the production of coagulation factors caused by the liver increases the risk of plaque formation ⁽⁷²⁾. All in all, after correction for other known risk factors, being severely overweight increases the risk of myocardial infarction by 37.6% and stroke by 29% ⁽⁷³⁾.

Other affected organs

Adipose tissue, the liver and the cardiovascular system are the organs most involved in and affected by metabolic syndrome. However, evidence indicates that metabolic syndrome influences the entire organism. In fact, several studies suggest that insulin resistance and/or being overweight are associated with fertility problems in both men and women. In women, polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is strongly associated with overweight and insulin resistance (74). Insulin and changes in adipokine levels are presumed to negatively influence hormone balance and therefore fertility ⁽⁷⁵⁾. In men, BMI is negatively correlated with sperm motility, which is also affected by hormonal disorders from the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis, which reduces testosterone levels ⁽⁷⁶⁾. Furthermore, the sperm of obese men contains elevated concentrations of leptin and insulin (77), which may have a further negative impact on fertility. In addition, being severely overweight is also associated with erectile dysfunction. However, this could be the indirect result of increased blood pressure in those with metabolic syndrome.

Due to the increased risk of atherosclerosis, metabolic syndrome also indirectly represents a risk factor for pulmonary vascular diseases and pulmonary high blood pressure ⁽⁷⁸⁾. The extent to which insulin resistance – irrespective of the known vascular problems – negatively impacts on lung function is unclear, however.



Polycystic ovary syndrome

Low sperm motility

Pulmonary hypertension

The liver is a highly active, metabolic organ.

High regenerative capacity of the liver

Fatty acid oxidation as a significant contributor to the damage process

Metabolic syndrome of the liver - NAFLD

Metabolic function of hepatocytes

Although metabolic syndrome was identified as "syndrome X" back in 1988 and NAFLD has been known since 1981, NAFLD was first confirmed to be the manifestation of metabolic syndrome in the liver in 2008 ⁽⁷⁹⁾. The liver itself is a highly active, metabolic organ with an extremely large spectrum of functions and produced components. It would go beyond the scope of this brochure to cover all of the cell types and functions of the liver. *Table 2* therefore provides just a brief overview of the metabolic functions of the hepatocytes (liver parenchyma cells).

Due to their biotransformation functions in particular, liver cells are continuously exposed to toxins, causing many cells to die. Presumably to compensate for this, liver cells have extremely high proliferation rates, allowing adult, fully differentiated hepatocytes to replace perished neighboring cells. The regenerative capacity is of such an extent that approx. 70% of the liver can be removed in healthy individuals. Compensatory hypertrophy allows the remaining tissue to replace losses to liver volume and simultaneously perform all of the afore mentioned functions.

Chronic damage may continuously reduce the number of hepatocytes, however, prompting hepatic stellate cells to change into an activated state and produce a collagen matrix to stabilize the tissue ^(80,81). If collagen replaces larger areas of the parenchyma as a result of long-term damage, this will initially lead to fibrosis and, ultimately, liver cirrhosis. This effect may also occur if fatty degeneration of the liver lasts for many years ⁽⁸²⁾. Changes in the basic metabolic conditions in the liver are presumed to be considerably more problematic, however, when large amounts of fat and/or fatty acids are (or have to be) stored in the liver cells. For example, this causes a shift from fatty acids metabolized by mitochondrial β oxidation towards ω oxidation, the latter of which occurs in the cytoplasm and causes massive oxidative stress for the cells ⁽⁸³⁻⁸⁵⁾. Fatty acids also influence the gene expression of proteins involved in lipid and glucose metabolism via transcription factors (e.g. PPAR- γ , SREBP-c) ⁽⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸⁾.

Metabolic function of hepatocytes (liver parenchyma cells)

Glucose metabolism

In the absorption phase, the liver absorbs glucose from the blood, polymerizes it to glycogen and stores this in the form of granules. The liver can release glucose during periods of high energy demand: If carbohydrate reserves are empty and energy demand is extremely high, the liver can synthesize glucose from proteins by means of gluconeogenesis (e.g. cachexia/sarcopenia in liver cirrhosis).

Lipid metabolism

During the absorption phase, the liver synthesizes triglycerides (as energy reserves) and sphingolipids (membrane components) from carbohydrates and lipids. During the post-absorption phase, the liver obtains the majority of its energy from the oxidation of fatty acids. The ketone bodies left over from this process are absorbed into the bloodstream to be used as an energy source by other organs. The liver also produces verylow-density lipoproteins (VLDL) and low-density lipoproteins (LDL), which transport cholesterol, triglycerides and fatty acids via the bloodstream to other organs. An important function of hepatocytes is the de novo synthesis of cholesterol, which fulfills diverse functions both as a membrane component and precursor for steroid hormones, D vitamins and bile acids.

Protein metabolism

In addition to synthesizing non-essential amino acids, the liver produces a range of proteins that play a central role in the entire organism, including blood plasma enzymes, almost all proteins involved in coagulation, and serum albumin. The latter serves as a transport and binding molecule for a variety of difficult-to-dissolve substances and signaling molecules in the blood. Furthermore, the liver activates signaling substances by converting prohormones to hormones, but also inactivates/degrades hormones, proteins and other signaling molecules. The liver is the only organ in the body that can detoxify ammonia produced during protein metabolism by converting it to urea. This enables the acid-base balance to be regulated, as large amounts of HCO_2^- can be bound.

Biotransformation

Biotransformation refers to the detoxification of endogenous and exogenous substances. Lipophilic substances that cannot be broken down are converted to hydrophilic substances and then excreted through urine or bile.

Bile formation

Bile transports cholesterol, bile acids (essential for lipid absorption in the small intestine), bilirubin (iron-free metabolite of hemoglobin) and other substances to the intestine. A large proportion of these substances is then transported back to the liver through enterohepatic circulation, which means that only a small quantity has to be synthesized de novo in the liver.

In addition to the obesity epidemic, we are also facing an NAFLD epidemic.

Cytokeratin 18 as a surrogate marker of liver cell damage

Threshold values for transaminase levels under discussion

NAFLD epidemic

With the increasing incidence of overweight, obesity and metabolic syndrome, it is hardly surprising that NAFLD is now the most common liver disease in the USA and probably in large parts of Europe (United Kingdom, France, Germany, Hungary). NAFLD clinically manifests itself as fatty degeneration of the liver, while the progressive, chronic form (non-alcoholic steatohepatitis [NASH]) is characterized by fatty degeneration, inflammation and ballooning (abnormally enlarged cells) of the liver cells, with or without fibrosis ^(89,90) (*figure 3*).

Currently, the only completely reliable way of distinguishing between simple steatosis (NAFL) and NASH is to perform a liver biopsy and histological examination of the tissue. However, typical serum biomarkers of liver damage (transaminase levels, γ -glutamyl transferase) are often used to predict the severity of NAFLD. There are also other surrogate markers of liver damage – specific apoptosis marker M30 (caspase-cleaved cytokeratin 18 fragment) has been delivering encouraging results for a few years ⁽⁹¹⁻⁹³⁾, but does not seem to be exclusively specific to NAFLD ^(94,95). As a gold standard, histological assessment is already defective and poses a problem when developing non-invasive biomarkers for distinguishing between simple steatosis and NASH ^(96,97).

Furthermore, it is still unclear whether NAFL and NASH are a continuum of transitional stages and temporal transition, or whether they may be separate entities ⁽⁹⁸⁾ where fatty degeneration can take a harmless or severe course depending on genetic, external or internal factors. How and whether the severity of NAFLD should be determined without performing a liver biopsy is therefore still disputed ^(90,99). The fact that the levels of typical liver biomarkers (ALT, AST) are often not elevated above current normal values makes it even more difficult to diagnose NAFLD using non-invasive methods. The typical limits for assessing NAFLD may be set too high ^(100,101). New molecular markers, including cell death marker M30 as mentioned above, and possibly adipokines could provide a solution to this problem.

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) in different manifestations

NAFLD is an umbrella term for simple steatosis or fatty liver disease (NAFL) as well as non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). The latter is an advanced stage of liver disease and may progress to cirrhosis or the development of tumors.



A combination of different markers is probably the most successful way of creating a reliable "score" for determining the severity of NAFLD $^{\rm (102)}.$

Although this would increase the time and costs required to determine biomarkers, it would considerably improve the accuracy of the prognosis. In principle, non-invasive biomarkers can also be used to distinguish between primary alcoholic steatohepatitis (ASH) and NAFL in patients with a similar BMI ⁽¹⁰³⁾. As the metabolic profiles of alcoholic and non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases overlap, this distinction has a very high clinical significance *(figure 4)*.

Figure 4

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) - diagnostic algorithm



The far-reaching consequences of metabolic syndrome affect the liver in different ways.

Hepatic de novo lipogenesis

Fatty-acid binding proteins

Possible ways of liver damage

Obesity is characterized, for example, by an increase in lipolysis from adipocytes (104,105), which promotes the development of insulin resistance and increases the number of lipid components in the plasma. Circulating free fatty acids (FFA) produced from peripheral lipolysis are found in greater quantities in obese patients, but only represent part of the intrahepatic fatty acid pool in NAFLD (38,106). A considerable amount of fatty acids exists as the result of increased production in the liver (hepatic de novo lipogenesis). This lipogenesis, which occurs despite an existing surplus of fatty acids, indicates serious changes in the metabolic regulation of hepatocytes caused by steatosis. To a large extent, fatty acids are actively absorbed by fatty-acid binding proteins (FABPs), the upregulation of which has been described for NAFLD patients and shown to correlate with both the serum levels of FFAs and the progression of the disease ⁽¹⁰⁷⁾. Scavenger receptor CD36/FAT (fatty acid translocase) transports longchain fatty acids to hepatocytes, for example ⁽¹⁰⁸⁾. CD36 could play a functional role in altered hepatocyte metabolism (38) and may promote the development of tumors in those with NAFLD via mechanisms mediated by NF-κB and PTFN (109,110)

All in all, fat accumulation in the liver occurs when there is an imbalance of four processes ⁽¹¹¹⁾:

- 1. Uptake of triglycerides from circulation
- 2. De novo lipogenesis
- 3. Fatty acid oxidation
- 4. Triglyceride secretion

An increase in 1 or 2 or a reduction in 3 or 4 alone may lead to significant changes in lipid homeostasis in the liver. If two or more of these processes change, which appears to be the case in obesity, fat will inevitably accumulate in the liver and bring with it all of the metabolic consequences. To date, a number of different hypotheses have been put forward to explain the development and progression of damage. The two-hit theory is the hypothesis that the steatotic liver has already been damaged by insulin resistance and fatty degeneration (first "hit"), causing a second "hit" to increase the likelihood of NASH developing ⁽¹¹²⁾. Here, it must be noted that the mere accumulation of physiologically inert triglycerides (classic "fats") within hepatocytes, i.e. pure steatosis, will not cause liver damage ⁽¹¹³⁾. On the other hand, an accumulation of FFAs and other toxic metabolites due to insulin resistance will induce a syndrome known as lipotoxicity ^(106,114–116). It has actually been proven that the accumulation of triglycerides in fat droplets may even have a hepatic-protective effect (117,118). NAFLD patients, particularly those in the advanced stages of the disease, commonly present with both aspects, however: an increase in triglyceride accumulation in inert fat droplets and a build-up of toxic free fatty acids. The second "hit" may be caused by oxidative stress ⁽⁸⁵⁾, (sterile) inflammatory processes ⁽¹¹⁹⁾ and other damage mechanisms. The inflammatory components are probably caused by processes mediated by NF- κ B and triggered by a reduced expression of NF- κ B inhibitor IKK α or IKK β ^(120,121). A more recent variant of this theory is the multiple parallel hits hypothesis. which has a wider interpretation, variable sequence in which damage occurs as well as interindividual variance (e.g. genetic factors) ⁽¹²²⁾. Current data and the very complex pathogeneses of NAFLD and NASH indicate that this theory does indeed offer a very probable explanation.

Lipotoxicity is triggered by FFAs, acyl-CoAs and acetyl-CoAs. FFAs induce programmed cell death (apoptosis) by activating Toll-like and death receptors. Direct and indirect influence on diverse nuclear receptor signaling pathways also induces insulin resistance and causes free radicals to form. Furthermore, the excess β oxidation of long-chain fatty acids in peroxisomes, and ω oxidation in the endoplasmic reticulum in patients with NAFLD, cause lipotoxicity as a result of metabolites peroxides and oxygen radicals.

Two-hit theory

Multiple parallel hits theory

Inflammation and programmed cell death of hepatocytes

Free fatty acids (FFAs) as systemic, harmful mediators

Lipokines (fat components as signaling molecules) The direct, mechanical compression and release of catecholamines cause intrahepatic fat accumulation to reduce hepatic blood flow and thus inhibit mitochondrial function. This causes free radicals to form and Kupffer's cells to be activated, as well as inflammation and, ultimately, apoptosis of hepatocytes. Elevated blood glucose levels may induce apoptosis of hepatoma cells in vitro. Raised values from the HOMA model (homeostasis model assessment; derived from levels of insulin and glucose in the blood), as a measure for insulin resistance, are associated with hepatic cell death.

As described in detail above, the mechanisms by which adipose tissue influences metabolic syndrome are now known. Adipokines influence glucose and insulin homeostasis and modulate metabolism as well as insulin resistance or sensitivity in the liver (40). Furthermore, FFAs released from adipose tissue interact with peripheral organs and induce cellular alterations there, which increases insulin resistance or leads to increased expression of death receptors in fatty hepatocytes. for example (123,124). Although FFAs are now accepted to play an important role in fat deposits in tissue other than adipose tissue, the reasons as to why FFAs are released from adipose tissue are still unclear. Current findings suggest an interaction between adipose tissue and the liver (57,124,125). Exchanged signals include lipokine C16:1n7palmitoleate recently identified as a lipid hormone, which is used by adipose tissue to interact with systemic metabolism and improves insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism, for example (126). Conversely, the liver affects lipolysis in adipocytes via lipoproteins; for example, apoB100-LDL inhibits lipolysis ⁽¹²⁷⁾. Normally, the production of hepatic apoB100-containing lipoproteins and the release of FFAs from adipose tissue occur in equilibrium. However, elevated levels of FFAs in the serum activate hepatic apoB100 synthesis, which increases the concentration of apoB100-containing lipoproteins (apoB100-LDL). By binding to LDLRs in adipocytes, apoB100-LDL can then induce gene expression(s) - the exact mechanism by which lipolysis is inhibited is still unknown, however.

There is further an interaction between the liver and microbiome. Obese patients have a different spectrum of intestinal flora compared with patients of an average weight. In particular, they have fewer Firmicutes species and more species from the Proteobacteria phylum ^(13,15). This affects the metabolism of various food components in the intestine and thus the available nutrients that can be absorbed by the intestinal epithelium. This may also cause more fragments of bacterial cell walls (e.g. LPS) to be released into the circulation. These substances are transported through the portal vein to the liver, where they can bind to Toll-like receptors to activate the innate immune system as PAMPs (pathogen-associated molecular patterns) ⁽¹¹⁹⁾. This results in a sterile inflammatory reaction. It remains to be seen whether studies on humans will show that this effect is responsible for the development of NASH as opposed to pure steatosis.

Despite this range of known mechanisms in steatotic liver cells, the exact pathogenesis of NAFLD and progression to NASH is still unknown. One reason may be that the drastic effects that metabolic syndrome has on different organ systems are at least partially due to the afore mentioned changes in the adipose tissue. It therefore seems likely that adipose tissue may influence the progression of NAFLD both metabolically and by releasing adipokines. The correlation of adipocyte size with the severity of NAFLD, which has been described several times, is one indication of this.

Although NAFLD has been known to be a chronic liver disease for a long time, its role (symptom or possible contributory cause) in metabolic syndrome is unclear ^(38,65,128) and, due to the extremely complex organ interactions, particularly in obesity, its development is not understood.

The liver and microbiome

Progression to NASH unclear

Liver steatosis increases sensitivity to toxins and hepatitis viruses.

NAFLD leads to hepatocellular carcinoma, even if cirrhosis is not present.

Specific risks of NAFLD

Contrary to the long-standing view that – unlike NASH – pure liver steatosis (NAFL) is benign, several investigations have shown that NAFLD generally worsens most conditions that damage the liver, such as increasing liver sensitivity to hepatitis viruses and toxins (alcohol, medication) ⁽¹²⁹⁾. Liver-damaging drugs (e.g. paracetamol and certain antibiotics), when administered in doses that are harmless for healthy individuals, may cause serious liver damage to patients with NAFLD.

More than 50% of those that drink 40–60 g of alcohol per day have alcohol-induced fatty liver, known as ASH (alcoholic steatohepatitis). If obese patients also drink alcohol, they increase their risk of developing liver cirrhosis considerably ⁽¹³⁰⁾. In fact, an average of just one glass of red wine per day (2–3 units) may lead to liver cirrhosis in obese individuals, even though there is no alcohol abuse. The result is NASH/ASH cirrhosis, which is predominantly caused by metabolic components and is usually not the result of alcohol abuse.

Most chronic liver diseases are characterized by a gradual progression from fibrosis and cirrhosis to the development of tumors. Over the last few years, however, there has been an increasing number of reports of liver tumors in NAFLD patients with no evidence of liver cirrhosis. In actual fact, less than 50% of patients with NAFLD-induced hepatocellular carcinoma are cirrhotic, compared to between 70% and 99% of those suffering from other chronic liver diseases ⁽¹³¹⁾. As a result, the underlying mechanisms that lead to NAFLD-associated tumors cannot be directly attributed to fibrotic processes in the hepatic tissue and are therefore presumed to differ from those for other chronic liver diseases ⁽¹³²⁾. The mechanisms and factors involved in this process are still largely unknown.

Some tumor suppressor genes also play an important role in lipid and glucose metabolism, causing excess fats and glucose in overweight patients to change the expression of these genes and/or regulate transcription factors ⁽¹³³⁾.

Today's third most common indication for liver transplantation, NAFLD-related liver cirrhosis, is set to overtake virus-related liver cirrhosis in the next few years – by 2020 at the latest according to USA estimations ⁽⁸²⁾.

Moreover, NAFLD livers are the second choice for donor organs and rejected by many transplantation centers ⁽¹³⁴⁾. There are conflicting results on this subject, however. Animal models have shown that, in the absence of inflammatory components, moderate fatty degeneration of the liver does not impair liver regeneration following a partial resection, and may even promote proliferation of hepatocytes ⁽¹¹⁸⁾.

Patients with diabetes and NAFLD have an increased risk of developing atherosclerosis ⁽¹³⁵⁾ and coronary artery disease (CAD). However, some data suggest that patients with NAFLD, but no diabetes, also have an increased risk of developing CAD. A long-term study carried out over 21 years showed cardiovascular events or malignancy to be the main causes of death in patients with NAFLD (136). Histological severity of NAFLD, as well as simple fatty liver disease (NAFL) without inflammation, was associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular events and an atherogenic lipid profile ⁽¹³⁶⁾. These data were used to determine whether typical serum biomarkers for liver damage could be used to predict cardiovascular events. γ -glutamyl transferase (GGT) is a promising marker for hepatobiliary dysfunction and, traditionally, for increased alcohol consumption. GGT promotes the oxidation of LDLs and is located in foam cells in human atherosclerotic plaque, suggesting that it may play a role in atherogenesis (137).

In fact, serum GGT levels are significantly associated with established cardiovascular risk factors, such as triglycerides, BMI and cholesterol. Furthermore, elevated levels of GGT in the serum are linked to a range of cardiovascular risk factors and the incidence of metabolic syndrome. In patients with acute coronary syndrome, GGT levels can be used to predict cardiovascular events and mortality. ALT, another specific marker for liver damage, particularly in those with NAFLD, is also being considered as a biomarker for cardiovascular and metabolic diseases. An epidemiological assessment (Hoorn Study) concluded that there was a significant association between Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease represents a serious health risk that extends beyond existing liver injuries.

GGT and ALT as predictive markers for cardiovascular events NAFLD as a risk factor for chronic kidney damage raised ALT levels and CAD, even in the absence of metabolic syndrome and the risk of atherosclerotic lesions ⁽¹³⁸⁾. Normal as well as raised ALT levels are therefore associated with the risk of developing metabolic syndrome.

Metabolic syndrome also affects the kidneys, which are indirectly damaged via the liver. Patients with NAFLD and diabetes have a higher prevalence of chronic kidney damage than patients with diabetes but no NAFLD. This increased incidence was independent of gender, age, BMI, waist circumference, blood pressure, smoking, diabetes, microalbuminuria, glomerular filtration rate and medication. NAFLD was also shown to represent an independent risk factor for chronic kidney disease in a Korean study ⁽¹³⁹⁾.

Treatment options for metabolic syndrome, obesity and NAFLD

The extent to which the already far-reaching effects of obesity and metabolic syndrome will impact on health and society in the future is becoming increasingly clear, which means that therapeutic measures are essential. These are limited and beset with significant problems or disadvantages, however. Lifestyle changes are not a quick fix and require active cooperation from patients, the effectiveness of active pharmaceutical ingredients is mostly limited to parts of metabolic syndrome (usually insulin resistance/diabetes) and may cause side effects, and surgical options are extremely effective, but subject patients to a major invasive procedure and all of the risks associated with major abdominal surgery. Available treatment options, their advantages and disadvantages and their effectiveness in the treatment of different aspects of metabolic syndrome are shown in detail below.

Lifestyle changes

Losing excess weight is the first and, according to current evidence, most important therapeutic measure for treating all aspects of metabolic syndrome. Although this fact may seem straightforward, achieving results can be complicated and difficult. Many studies have shown that diets, in the traditional sense of the term, will not lead to weight loss in the long term. This is based on the well-known yo-yo effect. which can be explained by simple biological processes ⁽¹⁴⁰⁾. Organisms that are not receiving enough calories will reduce basal metabolic rate (BMR) and thus the number of calories burned as far as possible. In obese patients, it was shown that even moderate calorie restriction over a six-week period (calorie intake greater than 70% of BMR) reduces BMR by up to 250 kcal per day, potentially rising to 500 kcal after 30 weeks ⁽¹⁴¹⁾. In contrast to this guick reaction to calorie restriction, BMR will not return to its original rate for a period of six months after normal calorie intake is resumed. This almost always creates a surplus of calories in organisms after a diet, which is then free to refill energy stores (especially adipose tissue) (142). This effect is also caused by a persistent feeling of hunger after weight loss, probably caused by impaired adipokine secretion. Positive results can therefore only be

Yo-yo effect of dieting caused by decreased basal metabolic rate

Protein-rich foods for effective weight loss

Long-term lifestyle changes are the ideal treatment for metabolic syndrome and NAFLD. achieved by making long-term changes to eating habits. Current data are too insufficient to determine the ideal macronutrient composition for losing weight or one all-encompassing general recommendation for treating insulin resistance and hyperlipidemia associated with metabolic syndrome ⁽¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁵⁾. Larger studies comprising a range of diets and meta-analyses tend to indicate that protein-rich foods with moderate carbohydrate and fat consumption may aid weight loss ⁽¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸⁾.

Although weight loss achieved through different diets does not differ significantly, high-protein diets often lead to a greater reduction in fat mass and less loss of fat-free mass ^(147,149,150). This would, at least theoretically, limit the decrease in basal metabolic rate, as mentioned above. High-protein diets also usually improve lipid components in the serum as well as insulin resistance to a greater extent than conventional low-fat, high-carbohydrate diets. Furthermore, based on the authors' personal experience and discussions with nutritionists and fitness trainers, high-protein diets seem to help many people to lose weight more effectively. It remains unclear whether greater feelings of satiety leading indirectly and unintentionally to lower calorie intake or actual macronutrient composition are behind this.

Weight loss of 5–10% of the original body weight may significantly improve steatosis and fibrosis in the liver ^(151,152). Drastic lifestyle changes very successfully improve insulin resistance and cardiovascular risk factors in the short term ^(153,154). This applies to overweight or obese adolescents in particular ⁽¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷⁾. A large long-term study recently concluded, however, that drastic lifestyle changes only reduce the risk of myocardial infarction or cardiovascular mortality to the same extent as diabetes education and medication ⁽¹⁵⁸⁾. However, it must be noted that, in both groups, roughly the same proportion of subjects was already suffering from pre-existing cardiovascular diseases at the beginning of the study (14%, which is virtually equal to the percentage of subjects affected by cardiovascular events during the study).

Furthermore, the group that underwent intensive lifestyle intervention achieved a greater weight loss than the control group over the same period, although the average BMI was classified as obese at all times. Patients in the intervention group also put a considerable amount of weight back on after the first year, which may suggest a lack of compliance and therefore insufficient support measures, or a lack of physical activity. Medication to treat insulin resistance, diabetes or cardiovascular risk factors, such as hyperlipidemia or high blood pressure, was taken by the control group throughout the study, while subjects from the intervention group often stopped taking medication due to improvements in these comorbidities. Finally, the frequency of cardiovascular events and mortality was nominally lower in the intervention group, although not to a significant extent. In our view, the conclusion that drastic lifestyle changes are no more effective than diabetes education and medication is flawed. Instead, this study clarifies that even insufficient changes that are made too late are just as effective against cardiovascular risks and insulin resistance as long-term medication for these conditions! The message is clear: Drastic lifestyle changes should be made early on - and sustained - in order to considerably reduce health risk factors.

Increasing the number of calories burned is an important part of weight loss. Upping levels of physical activity is the only way to counteract reductions in basal metabolic rate caused by reduced calorie intake (142,159). Physical activity also has further positive effects on components of metabolic syndrome. Regular exercise of sufficient intensity reduces cardiovascular risk factors and improves insulin resistance ⁽¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶²⁾. Furthermore, exercise reduces the severity of NAFLD, even if it does not lead to weight loss (163,164), decreases fat content in the liver ⁽¹⁶⁵⁾ and improves insulin signaling there ⁽¹⁶⁶⁾. Evidence suggests that exercise regimes comprising cardio and strength training will achieve better results than cardio or strength training alone ⁽¹⁶²⁾. However, current findings are not significant enough to make a clear recommendation. In any case, physical activity must be of a sufficient intensity in order to be effective. Merely taking part in exercise programs or completing low intensity activity will only have a negligible effect on sustaining weight loss (167-169).

Lifestyle changes reduce risk factors.

For advice for patients who have been overweight or obese for many years and/or have diabetes, see pages 46/47. Last but not least, it would be naive to assume that a small increase in physical activity could reverse the effects of a disease caused by years, or even decades, of overnutrition and (much) too little exercise. As the chronic condition of overweight can only be counteracted gradually, even with intensive efforts, a high degree of self-discipline and endurance is required. Staying motivated is therefore the biggest barrier to preventing relapses to old habits and thus new weight gain ^(170,171). Support from an individual's social environment and psychological assistance may be helpful in this respect ^(172,173). Once again, further studies are required to determine effective strategies for retaining motivation and avoiding relapses.

Pharmacotherapy

Most individual components of metabolic syndrome can already be treated pharmacologically. Insulin resistance, for example, can be treated with thiazolidinediones (glitazones) ^(174,175). However, it is important to note that the side effects of glitazones include weight gain and edemas. Further weight gain is of course counterproductive in already obese patients in particular, even if insulin resistance can be controlled in this way. Glitazones are therefore only used in exceptional cases and most of these medications have already been taken off the market.

Metformin is another active pharmaceutical ingredient used to improve insulin sensitivity. Metformin, a drug in the biguanide class, suppresses de novo glucose production in the liver and thus lowers blood glucose levels ⁽¹⁷⁶⁾. Other mechanisms could also be involved, but this has not been proven with certainty. One advantage of metformin is that it promotes weight loss. Its side effects include gastrointestinal complaints and vitamin B₁₂ deficiency in the long term. Medications that either function as glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) mimetics or dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors (gliptins) have only recently become available on the market. Incretin GLP-1 increases insulin secretion and decreases glucagon secretion, which has the overall effect of reducing blood glucose after eating (177). DPP-4 is an enzyme (peptidase) that breaks down GLP-1, which means that inhibiting it prolongs the halflife of GLP-1 and thus increases (GLP-1) concentrations in the blood ^(178,179). Both variants seem to be a safe and efficient form of treatment ^(180,181). It is still unknown whether this form of treatment could reduce NAFLD. Long-term studies are probably required to show such an effect.

Orlistat can be prescribed for weight loss, irrespective of whether the patient is resistant to insulin⁽¹⁸²⁾. Furthermore, this drug has been shown to reduce AST and ALT levels as well as improve histological findings in the liver. However, this effect may not be due to the active pharmaceutical ingredient itself, but may be solely attributed to the weight loss. Further studies are required to confirm this. As orlistat is a lipase inhibitor which acts by reducing the absorption of fat, its effects on low-fat foods are very limited ⁽¹⁸³⁾. It also commonly leads to digestive problems, which

Anti-diabetic drugs:

- Metformin
- (GLP-1) mimetics
- (DPP-4) inhibitors

Orlistat

Vitamin D Ursodeoxycholic acid E. coli Nissle®

Statins

may have a negative impact on compliance. The cause of individual cases of liver failure that occurred in patients taking the drug could not be attributed to orlistat ^(183,184). Two further pharmacological treatments have also recently been approved in the USA. Lorcaserin in combination with behavior modification (diet and exercise) was found to achieve weight loss in a greater number of patients (over 5%) than behavior modification alone ^(185,186). The average weight loss did not differ significantly, however. The side effects of this appetite suppressant include headaches and nausea. A combined preparation of phentermine and topiramate was shown to bring about a higher percentage of weight loss than placebo. The side effects of this medication include constipation, insomnia and sensory disturbances ^(187,188).

Other substances that were tested for their ability to counteract insulin resistance, overweight and NAFLD contain vitamin D, ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) and prebiotic E. coli Nissle[®]. However, none of these active ingredients has yet been shown to have a significant effect on the biomarkers of metabolic syndrome ⁽¹⁷⁴⁾.

Different pharmacological therapeutics for other components of metabolic syndrome are also available. Statins (known as "fat reducers") are generally used to reduce LDL cholesterol and therefore cardiovascular risk. This is also a desirable effect for patients with NAFLD, which, as described above, is associated with a high cardiovascular risk. Administration of statins to NAFLD patients, even those with raised LFT values, seems to be safe ⁽¹⁸⁹⁾. Statins have not yet been confirmed to have a direct effect on NAFLD, and most studies and/or case series have been too small or conducted over too insufficient observation periods to draw a clear conclusion on this matter ^(190–192). High blood pressure treatment is also usually recommended for patients with NAFLD and/or metabolic syndrome ⁽¹⁹³⁾. In fact, small studies have even shown that medication for reducing blood pressure also lowers typical liver serum biomarkers ^(194,195). For treating the NAFLD component of metabolic syndrome there are currently no active ingredients on the market that have been histologically proved to reduce steatosis ^{(90).} In one meta-analysis, thiazolidinedione (glitazone) did reduce steatosis and inflammation in the liver, but, as described above, was linked with weight gain (here: 2-5 kg) in up to 75% of patients and edemas in up to 10% ⁽¹⁹⁶⁾.

There are studies, however, that do not recommend the use of glitazones in patients with NAFLD but no diabetes. Although fibrates, statins and omega 3 fatty acids reduced AST levels in the serum slightly, and combined treatment with pioglitazone and vitamin E lowered AST and ALT levels in the serum ⁽¹⁹⁷⁻¹⁹⁹⁾, none of the effects were found to extend beyond those achieved by weight loss or physical activity. The side effects of vitamin E, such as an increased tendency to bleed and increased incidence of carcinoma of the prostate, must also be noted. Vitamin D is only likely to be successful as an antifibrotic treatment in NAFLD patients without vitamin D receptor polymorphisms ⁽²⁰⁰⁾; however, current findings do not provide clear conclusions on this matter. The use of prebiotic and probiotic active ingredients in the treatment of NAFLD is also promising in principle, but once again there is a lack of robust data for an evidence-based recommendation ⁽²⁰¹⁾. Pharmacological treatment of overweight may support lifestyle changes but does not significantly improve NAFLD.

Vitamin E

Bariatric surgery is the most effective weight loss technique for morbidly obese individuals, but is associated with significant complications.

Forms of bariatric surgery:

- Adjustable gastric band
- Sleeve gastrectomy
- Gastric bypass
- Biliopancreatic diversion

Bariatric surgery reduces prevalence of diabetes by 70%.

Surgical treatment options for metabolic syndrome

Bariatric surgical procedures are now an established way to lose weight ⁽²⁰²⁾. Surgical procedures to treat morbid obesity and secondary diseases associated with obesity are generally based on two procedures that can be carried out separately or together: restricting food intake by reducing the size of the stomach (restriction) and reducing nutrient and thus calorie intake (malabsorption) by resecting part of the small intestine. There is no all-encompassing procedure that can be recommended for all patients. Contraindications, BMI, age, gender, comorbidities, profession and the patient's preference should be taken into account when selecting a suitable treatment. Established operative procedures currently include gastric banding, sleeve gastrectomy, Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and biliopancreatic diversion with or without duodenal switch (figure 5). Gastric electrical stimulation, duodenal-jejunal bypass and intestinal transposition are becoming increasingly significant for the treatment of metabolic complications, even in low weight categories.

Current data show surgical treatment options to be an effective method of treating type 2 diabetes (202, 203). In addition to weight loss, changes in gastrointestinal hormones and therefore insulin resistance, inflammation and free fatty acids play a key role. Surgical procedures may put type 2 diabetes into remission or significantly reduce medication requirements in over 70% of patients. Reduced insulin demand and normalizing fasting glucose levels were observed shortly after all types of surgery combining restrictive and malabsorptive elements, regardless of the initial weight loss ⁽²⁰³⁾. This is probably attributed to a rapid improvement in gastrointestinal and neuroendocrine hormone secretion as well as adipokine production from adipose tissue. Other improvements include a reduction in surrogate parameters of NAFLD, such as classic transaminase levels and M30 as cell death markers for hepatocytes (204,205). In a group of obese patients, we were able to show that certain long-chain fatty acids and apolipoproteins were also associated with the severity of liver injury (NAS) prior to bariatric surgery ⁽²⁰⁶⁾. Concentrations of these fatty acids and apolipoproteins in the serum had considerably reduced six weeks after bariatric surgery. This could be a further indication of the positive effect of bariatric surgery on NAFLD.

Figure 5

Schematic representation of different surgical methods for treating overweight individuals

Bariatric surgical procedures achieve weight loss by influencing the digestive system. Restrictive procedures reduce the size of the stomach, resulting in a feeling of satiety after considerably smaller portions of food. Combined restrictive and malabsorptive procedures not only reduce the volume of the stomach, but also shorten the distance in which food comes into contact with stomach and/or bowel mucosa. This not only reduces calorie intake from food, but also decreases the absorption of valuable vitamins and trace elements.

Purely restrictive procedures



Source: Covidien Deutschland GmbH

Reduction of fatty acids and apolipoproteins in the blood

Deficiencies in vitamins and trace elements

Postoperative depression

As performing liver biopsies on obese patients is often prohibited by technical reasons – even after six months of weight loss following bariatric surgery – there is still no histological confirmation that bariatric surgery actually reduces steatosis or inflammation in the liver (except individual reports for follow-on operations). Bariatric surgical procedures are therefore not recommended by a practice guideline for treating NAFLD in the absence of diabetes ⁽²⁰⁷⁾.

All in all, obesity surgery can be seen as a safe and effective way to lose weight and reduce metabolic comorbidities. However, these procedures are also associated with a certain residual risk. All-cause mortality rates and intraoperative and postoperative complication rates themselves are low (< 1% mortality rate and postoperative complications in 1.5-17% of patients, depending on the method used) (208-210). One of the most common complications is anastomotic leakage, which requires a further operation to correct. Following malabsorptive or combined procedures in particular, nutritional habits must be monitored for the rest of the patients' lives. Deficiencies in vitamins and trace elements are common nonetheless (209,211). Gastrointestinal side effects that commonly occur following bariatric surgery are reduced if surgery is accompanied by lifestyle changes or pharmacological treatment. The long-term prognosis, e.g. if weight loss can be sustained in the long term, for all bariatric surgeries is still unclear and it is possible that patients may experience postoperative depression ⁽²¹²⁾.

Endoscopic treatment options

Two endoscopic, and therefore non-invasive, procedures have been recently developed analogously to bariatric surgical methods. One of these new techniques is the gastric balloon, which can be inserted using an endoscope and then filled with saline solution ⁽²¹³⁾. It works by reducing the size of the stomach. Combined with calorie restriction and exercise, this procedure can result in greater weight loss than dieting and exercise alone, as well as improve liver steatosis ^(214,215). The second technique is an EndoBarrier, which can be inserted using an endoscope⁽²¹⁶⁾. EndoBarrier is an inert plastic sleeve that lines part of the small intestine and causes malabsorption by mechanically separating food from the intestinal wall. There are still no data pertaining to the effects of the techniques on NAFLD. However, these methods have already been shown to effectively reduce overweight and type 2 diabetes and also seem to improve cardiovascular risk factors (217,218), which, in principle, would also suggest possible improvements in NAFLD.

Gastric balloon

EndoBarrier

Conclusion and clinical summary

The authors are of the opinion that treatment and research must focus more on the components that may cause the development of metabolic syndrome as well as their interaction with each other. Most importantly, these components include considerable changes in adipose tissue and adipocyte biology as a result of fat accumulation in cells. There is growing evidence to suggest that insulin resistance, which is currently considered to cause metabolic syndrome, arises from the secretion of adipokines from hypertrophied fat cells. As a key metabolic organ, the liver's role in the syndrome also needs to be clarified. NAFLD is currently seen as a consequence rather than a cause of metabolic syndrome. It has yet to be clarified whether this is truly the case or whether the liver contributes to the development of insulin resistance. There is increasing evidence to suggest that the liver does have a causal link, however. Furthermore, given the wide interindividual variation in humans, metabolic syndrome is presumed not to develop identically in all cases. For example, the syndrome may develop primarily from the adipose tissue, be caused by changes in the liver or be triggered by the microbiome through different processes. Despite the very complex nature of the syndrome and the many unanswered questions we are confronted with, however, there is a clear course of action.

As all aspects of this condition are intertwined, the aim is to reduce all of the components: weight loss by reducing fat mass and adipocyte size, treatment of insulin resistance and diabetes as well as, future treatments permitting, treatment of NAFLD. Available treatment options leave us confronted with another problem. It is almost impossible to manage all components pharmacologically due to the side effects alone, and there is still no sign of pharmacological management for NAFLD. While surgical measures are effective and, compared with other operative procedures, do not carry extreme risks for patients, they subject patients to intensive follow-up monitoring and residual risks. Above all, however, there is no viable way of offering bariatric surgical measures to the estimated 12 million obese patients. This is neither feasible nor economical for the healthcare sector. The remaining option is to help patients to make changes to their lifestyle. This requires a long-term, multi-discipline approach, as patients must sustain strenuous efforts to lose weight (fat mass) for the rest of their lives in order to see results. Pediatricians, internists, surgeons, nutritionists, physiotherapists, sports medicine specialists and, last but not least, psychologists must work together to provide support and advice to patients experiencing problems with weight loss. Such support should be preventive, and not suggested for the first time when patients walk into doctors' offices presenting with BMIs of 35 and the first comorbidities.

The population must be made more aware of the dangers of our comfortable lifestyle and current eating habits. This awareness should be raised at a very early stage to counteract further increases in the number of obese children and adolescents. Conceivable options include broaching the issue of unhealthy eating habits and showing alternatives to children and adolescents while they are still at school. It is understandable that overweight patients are looking for an easy solution. Unfortunately, though, this does not exist – and nor does a "miracle cure" for weight loss.

What is your risk of developing metabolic liver disease?

This patient questionnaire can be printed out and downloaded to give to patients from www.ursofalk.com/handouts

Appendix

Patient questionnaire

1. What is your body mass index? (BMI = weight in kg/height in m	2)	
a. 19–25	0	
b. 25–30	2	
c. 31–40	4	
d. Over 40	6	
2. How would you describe your die	et?	
a. I am conscious of what I eat and	consume	
a lot of vegetables and lean, prot	ein-rich foods 0	
b. I generally try to eat a balanced of	liet,	
but this is not always the case	2	
c. I am not especially conscious of	what I eat and	
consume a lot of convenience pr	oducts and junk food 6	
3. Which of the following best desci	ibes your profession?	
a. My job involves a lot of physical	activity 0	
b. My job involves standing/walking	2	
c. I mainly sit down for my job	4	_
4. How often do you exercise?		
a. Several times a week	0	
b. Once a week	1	
c. Less than once a week	3	_
d. l do not exercise	5	_
5. How active are you in your free t	time –	
besides exercise?		
a. I am physically active in my free	time	
and am actually always moving a	around 0	
b. I am sometimes active in my free	time,	
e.g. I go walking or cycling	1	
c. My free time mostly involves		
sedentary activities	4	

	• .	
Pn	inte	
10	IIILS	

6. How much alcohol do you consume?

a. I drink no alcohol or only drink very seldom

(low quantities once or twice a month)	0
b. I drink alcohol occasionally (approx. once a week)	1
c. I drink alcohol more than once a week	2
d. I drink alcohol every day or relatively large quantities	
at weekends only (more than three glasses of beer	
or wine in one sitting)	4

7. Do you have elevated blood glucose levels or diabetes?

a. No	0
b. I don't know	2
c. Elevated blood glucose	4
d. Diabetes	8

8. Do you have elevated LFT values (AST, ALT, GGT)?

a. No	0
b. I don't know	1
c. Yes	4

9. Do you have elevated blood lipid levels?

a. No	0
b. I don't know	2
c. Yes	6

Total

Assessment: see evaluation

Evaluation

0-10 points:

You are at low risk of developing metabolic liver disease. Stay active and eat healthily to keep your liver efficient and strong.

11-18 points:

You have a moderate risk of developing metabolic liver disease. Try to exercise more to protect yourself more effectively.

19-27 points:

You have a relatively high risk of developing metabolic liver disease. Avoid alcohol consumption. Have a doctor check your LFT values. If you are overweight, you should consider making changes to your lifestyle. Make better food choices and do more exercise!

Over 27 points:

You have a very high risk of developing metabolic liver disease. If you are not already undergoing medical treatment, you should consult a doctor immediately. Have your LFT values and blood glucose (diabetes!) checked. You are urgently advised to make extensive changes to your lifestyle.

Permanent lifestyle changes

This patient advice can be printed out and downloaded to give to patients from www.ursofalk.com/handouts

Appendix

Patient advice for making lifestyle changes to prevent overweight, diabetes and metabolic liver diseases

- Liver biomarkers (ALT, AST, GGT) in the blood should be tested in patients that have been overweight or obese for many years and/or have diabetes. Elevated levels should be treated immediately. Please consider that current values may be too high.
- Making strict, long-term changes to your lifestyle is the best way to protect your health. This requires a lot of willpower and staying power. Look to include measures that will actively support your plans (e.g. clubs, self-help groups, free-time activities, active holidays and gyms).

- Important lifestyle changes:

- Eat plenty of vegetables, fruit in moderation (contains fructose!)
- Avoid sugary drinks (coke, lemonade and fruit juices). Low-calorie drinks (diet versions) are a possible alternative and considered to be harmless according to current findings.
 However, it is always better to drink mineral water, coffee and tea wherever possible.
- Do plenty of exercise (at least three hours per week) but have your doctor check your cardiovascular risk beforehand. Find a form of exercise that you enjoy and can imagine doing for the rest of your life (!).
- In addition to exercise, try to incorporate physical activity into your day-to-day life and free time (e.g. ride a bicycle to work, take the stairs instead of the elevator, cover short distances by foot, use a pedometer or apps to monitor your level of activity and increase this continuously).
- Do not follow a diet, but make permanent changes to your eating habits. Try to eat healthily and be aware of calories (if necessary, seek nutrition advice).
- Monitor your progress and document
 - a) your weight (weigh yourself once to twice a week)
 - b) what you eat and how often
 - c) how physically active you are

- For obese individuals:

Be cautious with alcohol consumption. Even relatively small quantities of alcohol can increase metabolic damage to the liver! Ideally, no alcohol should be consumed at all.

- You should get vaccinated against hepatitis A and B to reduce your general risk of developing liver diseases.
- If you have been overweight for a long time and have already tried to lose weight (without success), you may want to consider seeking the help of a psychologist. The development and persistence of overweight and especially obesity are chronic processes that can only be stopped by long-term, sustained efforts. This requires a lot of self-discipline and willpower, and you may find that psychological counseling helps.
- If you are at high risk (see the questionnaire on page 44) of metabolic liver diseases, you are strongly advised to seek medical care. Even if you have a moderate risk, you should seek medical advice if you are not seeing any improvements on your own.
- For women of childbearing age: If you are overweight/obese and pregnant, you are particularly advised to watch what you eat. Reduce your consumption of fatty foods to a minimum and eat plenty of vegetables. If you are trying to become pregnant, you should first aim to lose around 5% of your current body weight. This is in the interest of your child, to ensure that he/she is not born with a significant predisposition to obesity.

Be cautious with alcohol consumption

Vaccination against hepatitis A and B

Psychological consultation

Regular medical care

Pregnancy

References

- 1. IDF Worldwide Definition of the Metabolic Syndrome [Internet]. International Diabetes Federation. [cited 2014 Oct 22];Available from: http://www.idf.org/metabolic-syndrome
- Alberti KGMM, Zimmet P, Shaw J. Metabolic syndrome a new world-wide definition. A Consensus Statement from the International Diabetes Federation. Diabet Med. 2006;23(5):469–80.
- **3. Text: Diabetes mellitus [Gesundheitsberichterstattung Themenhefte, März 2005]** [Internet]. [cited 2014 Oct 2];Available from: https://www.gbe-bund.de/gbe10/ergebnisse.prc_tab?fid=9432&tsuchstring= Metabolisches_Syndrom&tquery_id=&tsprache=D&tfund_typ=TXT&tmethode=2&tvt=1&tverwandte=1&tpage_ ret=0&tseite=&tp_lfd_nr=20&tp_news=&tp_sprachkz=D&tp_uid=gast&tp_aid=1072925&thlp_nr=3&tp_janein= J#SEARCH=%2522Metabolisches%20Syndrom%2522
- **4. Friedrich N et al.** Cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between insulin-like growth factor I and metabolic syndrome: a general population study in German adults. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2013;29(6):452–62.
- 5. Gjyriqi F. Querschnittsdaten der Ersterhebung [Internet]. Heinz Nixdorf Recall MehrGenerationenStudie. [cited 2014 Oct 22];Available from: https://www.uni-due.de/recall-studie/querschnittsdaten-der-ersterhebung/
- Schmid D, Leitzmann MF. Television viewing and time spent sedentary in relation to cancer risk: a meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2014;106(7).
- 7. Chaput J–P, Pérusse L, Després J–P, Tremblay A, Bouchard C. Findings from the Quebec Family Study on the Etiology of Obesity: Genetics and Environmental Highlights. Curr Obes Rep. 2014;3:54–66.
- 8. Serra-Majem L, Bautista-Castaño I. Etiology of obesity: two "key issues" and other emerging factors. Nutr Hosp. 2013;28 Suppl 5:32–43.
- 9. Ahmad S et al. Gene × physical activity interactions in obesity: combined analysis of 111,421 individuals of European ancestry. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(7):e1003607.
- 10. Ray K. NAFLD. PNPLA3 variant and hepatic steatosis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;11(8):455.
- 11. Oben JA et al. Maternal obesity during pregnancy and lactation programs the development of offspring non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. J Hepatol. 2010;52(6):913–20.
- 12. Godfrey KM et al. Fetal liver blood flow distribution: role in human developmental strategy to prioritize fat deposition versus brain development. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(8):e41759.
- Musso G, Gambino R, Cassader M. Obesity, diabetes, and gut microbiota: the hygiene hypothesis expanded? Diabetes Care. 2010;33(10):2277–84.
- 14. Van Nood E et al. Duodenal infusion of donor feces for recurrent Clostridium difficile. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(5):407–15.
- **15. Vrieze A et al.** Transfer of intestinal microbiota from lean donors increases insulin sensitivity in individuals with metabolic syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2012;143(4):913–916.e7.
- **16. Konstantinov SR, Peppelenbosch MP.** Fecal microbiota transfer may increase irritable bowel syndrome and inflammatory bowel diseases-associated bacteria. Gastroenterology. 2013;144(4):e19–20.
- **17. Murphy EF et al.** Divergent metabolic outcomes arising from targeted manipulation of the gut microbiota in diet-induced obesity. Gut. 2013;62(2):220–6.
- **18. Lender N et al.** Review article: Associations between Helicobacter pylori and obesity an ecological study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2014;40(1):24–31.
- 19. Trasande L et al. Infant antibiotic exposures and early-life body mass. Int J Obes (Lond). 2013;37(1):16-23.
- 20. RKI 2012 Erste Ergebnisse der "Studie zur Gesundheit Erwachsener in Deutschland" veröffentlicht [Internet]. [cited 2014 Dec 3];Available from: http://www.rki.de/DE/Content/Service/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2012/08_2012.html
- **21. Prugger C, Keil U.** [Development of obesity in Germany prevalence, determinants and perspectives]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 2007;132(16):892–7.
- 22. Text: Übergewicht und Adipositas [Gesundheitsberichterstattung Themenhefte, August 2003] [Internet]. [cited 2014 Oct 2];Available from: https://www.gbe-bund.de/gbe10/ergebnisse.prc_tab?fid=8426&tsuchstring= Metabolisches_Syndrom&tquery_id=&tsprache=D&tfund_typ=TXT&tmethode=2&tvt=1&tverwandte=1&tpage_ ret=0&tseite=&tp_lfd_nr=1&tp_news=&tp_sprachkz=D&tp_uid=gast&tp_aid=1072925&thlp_nr=3&tp_janein=J#SEARCH= %2522Metabolisches%20Syndrom%2522
- 23. KiGGS Studie zur Gesundheit von Kindern und Jugendlichen in Deutschland: KiGGS Welle 1 [Internet]. [cited 2014 Oct 22] Available from: http://www.kiggs-studie.de/deutsch/ergebnisse/kiggs-welle-1.html
- 24. Overweight and Obesity in the U.S. « Food Research & Action Center [Internet]. [cited 2014 Oct 2]; Available from: http://frac.org/initiatives/hunger-and-obesity/obesity-in-the-us/
- Ogden CL, Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Johnson CL. Prevalence and trends in overweight among US children and adolescents, 1999–2000. JAMA. 2002;288(14):1728–32.

- 26. Ogden CL et al. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999–2004. JAMA. 2006;295(13):1549–55.
- **27. Yan J et al.** Epidemiological survey and risk factor analysis of fatty liver disease of adult residents, Beijing, China. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;28(10):1654–9.
- 28. Bajaj S et al. A case-control study on insulin resistance, metabolic co-variates & prediction score in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Indian J Med Res. 2009;129(3):285–92.
- **29. Unger RH.** Lipid overload and overflow: metabolic trauma and the metabolic syndrome. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2003;14(9):398–403.
- **30.** Arner P et al. Variations in the size of the major omentum are primarily determined by fat cell number. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(5):E897–901.
- **31. Garaulet M, Hernandez–Morante JJ, Lujan J, Tebar FJ, Zamora S.** Relationship between fat cell size and number and fatty acid composition in adipose tissue from different fat depots in overweight/obese humans. Int J Obes (Lond). 2006;30(6):899–905.
- **32. Jernås M et al.** Separation of human adipocytes by size: hypertrophic fat cells display distinct gene expression. FASEB J. 2006;20(9):1540–2.
- **33. Skurk T, Alberti–Huber C, Herder C, Hauner H.** Relationship between adipocyte size and adipokine expression and secretion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(3):1023–33.
- **34. O'Connell J et al.** The relationship of omental and subcutaneous adipocyte size to metabolic disease in severe obesity. PLoS ONE. 2010;5(4):e9997.
- **35.** Tordjman J et al. Association between omental adipose tissue macrophages and liver histopathology in morbid obesity: influence of glycemic status. J Hepatol. 2009;51(2):354–62.
- **36.** Smith SR et al. Contributions of total body fat, abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue compartments, and visceral adipose tissue to the metabolic complications of obesity. Metab Clin Exp. 2001;50(4):425–35.
- **37. Wajchenberg BL, Giannella–Neto D, Da Silva ME, Santos RF.** Depot-specific hormonal characteristics of subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue and their relation to the metabolic syndrome. Horm Metab Res. 2002;34(11–12):616–21.
- **38. Fabbrini E et al.** Intrahepatic fat, not visceral fat, is linked with metabolic complications of obesity. Proc Natl Acad Sci. U.S.A. 2009;106(36):15430–5.
- 39. Berg AH, Combs TP, Du X, Brownlee M, Scherer PE. The adipocyte-secreted protein Acrp30 enhances hepatic insulin action. Nat Med. 2001;7(8):947–53.
- **40. Cantley J.** The control of insulin secretion by adipokines: current evidence for adipocyte-beta cell endocrine signalling in metabolic homeostasis. Mamm Genome. 2014;25(9-10):442–54.
- 41. Passos MCF, Gonçalves MC. Regulation of insulin sensitivity by adiponectin and its receptors in response to physical exercise. Horm Metab Res. 2014;46(9):603–8.
- **42. Yamauchi T, Iwabu M, Okada–Iwabu M, Kadowaki T.** Adiponectin receptors: a review of their structure, function and how they work. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;28(1):15–23.
- **43. Okamoto M et al.** Adiponectin induces insulin secretion in vitro and in vivo at a low glucose concentration. Diabetologia. 2008;51(5):827–35.
- **44. Arita Y et al.** Paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in obesity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;257(1):79–83.
- **45.** Considine RV et al. Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. N Engl J Med. 1996;334(5):292–5.
- **46.** Park HK, Ahima RS. Physiology of leptin: energy homeostasis, neuroendocrine function and metabolism. Metabolism. 2015;64(1):24–34.
- 47. Kulkarni RN et al. Leptin rapidly suppresses insulin release from insulinoma cells, rat and human islets and, in vivo, in mice. J Clin Invest. 1997;100(11):2729–36.
- 48. Nakata M, Okada T, Ozawa K, Yada T. Resistin induces insulin resistance in pancreatic islets to impair glucose-induced insulin release. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;353(4):1046–51.
- **49.** Danielsson T, Fredriksson L, Jansson L, Henriksnäs J. Resistin increases islet blood flow and decreases subcutaneous adipose tissue blood flow in anaesthetized rats. Acta Physiol (0xf). 2009;195(2):283–8.
- **50. Dray C et al.** Apelin stimulates glucose utilization in normal and obese insulin-resistant mice. Cell Metab. 2008;8(5):437–45.
- **51. Sörhede Winzell M, Magnusson C, Ahrén B.** The apj receptor is expressed in pancreatic islets and its ligand, apelin, inhibits insulin secretion in mice. Regul Pept. 2005;131(1–3):12–7.

- 52. Dutchak PA et al. Fibroblast growth factor-21 regulates PPAR activity and the antidiabetic actions of thiazolidinediones. Cell. 2012;148(3):556–67.
- 53. Kharitonenkov A et al. FGF-21 as a novel metabolic regulator. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(6):1627-35.
- **54. Fisher FM et al.** Integrated regulation of hepatic metabolism by fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21) in vivo. Endocrinology. 2011;152(8):2996–3004.
- 55. Holland WL et al. An FGF21-adiponectin-ceramide axis controls energy expenditure and insulin action in mice. Cell Metab. 2013;17(5):790–7.
- **56. Hotamisligil GS, Spiegelman BM.** Tumor necrosis factor alpha: a key component of the obesity-diabetes link. Diabetes. 1994;43(11):1271–8.
- 57. Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature. 2006;444(7121):860-7.
- 58. Sato T et al. Physiological roles of ghrelin on obesity. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2014;8(5):e405-e413.
- 59. Perry RJ, Samuel VT, Petersen KF, Shulman GI. The role of hepatic lipids in hepatic insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nature. 2014;510(7503):84–91.
- 60. Rachek LI. Free fatty acids and skeletal muscle insulin resistance. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2014;121:267–92.
- Bugianesi E, McCullough AJ, Marchesini G. Insulin resistance: a metabolic pathway to chronic liver disease. Hepatology. 2005;42(5):987–1000.
- Montane J, Cadavez L, Novials A. Stress and the inflammatory process: a major cause of pancreatic cell death in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2014;7:25–34.
- 63. Quan W, Jo E-K, Lee M-S. Role of pancreatic B-cell death and inflammation in diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2013;15 (Suppl 3):141–51.
- **64. Dietrich P, Hellerbrand C.** Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, obesity and the metabolic syndrome. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2014;28(4):637–53.
- 65. Vanni E et al. From the metabolic syndrome to NAFLD or vice versa? Dig Liver Dis. 2010;42(5):320-30.
- **66. Stefan N et al.** Identification and characterization of metabolically benign obesity in humans. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168(15):1609–16.
- 67. Blüher M. Are metabolically healthy obese individuals really healthy? Eur J Endocrinol. 2014 Dec;171(6):R209–19.
- 68. Ortega FB et al. The intriguing metabolically healthy but obese phenotype: cardiovascular prognosis and role of fitness. Eur Heart J. 2013;34(5):389–97.
- **69. Poelkens F et al.** Physical fitness can partly explain the metabolically healthy obese phenotype in women. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2014;122(2):87–91.
- **70. Dalleck LC, Van Guilder GP, Richardson TB, Bredle DL, Janot JM.** A community-based exercise intervention transitions metabolically abnormal obese adults to a metabolically healthy obese phenotype. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2014;7:369–80.
- 71. Catapano AL et al. Combination therapy in dyslipidemia: Where are we now? Atherosclerosis. 2014;237(1):319–35.
- 72. Bugianesi E, Moscatiello S, Ciaravella MF, Marchesini G. Insulin resistance in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Curr Pharm Des. 2010;16(17):1941–51.
- 73. Übergewicht als Risikofaktor für Herzinfarkt und Schlaganfall in der PROCAM–Studie [49] [Internet]. Assmann-Stiftung für Prävention. [cited 2014 Oct 22];Available from: http://www.assmann-stiftung.de/ubergewicht-als-risikofaktor-fur-herzinfarkt-und-schlaganfall-der-procam-studie/
- 74. Rondanelli M et al. Focus on metabolic and nutritional correlates of polycystic ovary syndrome and update on nutritional management of these critical phenomena. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2014;290(6):1079–92.
- 75. Verit A, Verit FF, Oncel H, Ciftci H. Is there any effect of insulin resistance on male reproductive system? Arch Ital Urol Androl. 2014;86(1):5–8.
- 76. Kasturi SS, Tannir J, Brannigan RE. The metabolic syndrome and male infertility. J Androl. 2008;29(3):251-9.
- 77. Leisegang K, Bouic PJ, Menkveld R, Henkel RR. Obesity is associated with increased seminal insulin and leptin alongside reduced fertility parameters in a controlled male cohort. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2014;12:34.
- Moral-Sanz J, Moreno L, Cogolludo A, Perez-Vizcaino F. Pulmonary vascular function in insulin resistance and diabetes. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2014;12(3):473–82.
- **79. Kim CH, Younossi ZM.** Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a manifestation of the metabolic syndrome. Cleve Clin J Med. 2008;75(10):721–8.

- **80.** Canbay A et al. Apoptotic body engulfment by a human stellate cell line is profibrogenic. Laboratory Investigation. 2003;83(5):655–63.
- Canbay A, Friedman S, Gores GJ. Apoptosis: the nexus of liver injury and fibrosis. Hepatology. 2004;39(2):273–8.
- **82.** Starley BO, Calcagno CJ, Harrison SA. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma: a weighty connection. Hepatology. 2010;51(5):1820–32.
- Begriche K, Igoudjil A, Pessayre D, Fromenty B. Mitochondrial dysfunction in NASH: causes, consequences and possible means to prevent it. Mitochondrion. 2006;6(1):1–28.
- 84. Serviddio G et al. Alterations of hepatic ATP homeostasis and respiratory chain during development of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in a rodent model. Eur J Clin Invest. 2008;38(4):245–52.
- 85. Angulo P. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(16):1221–31.
- 86. Shao W, Espenshade PJ. Expanding roles for SREBP in metabolism. Cell Metab. 2012;16(4):414-9.
- 87. Espenshade PJ. SREBPs: sterol-regulated transcription factors. J Cell Sci. 2006;119(Pt 6):973-6.
- **88. Bechmann LP et al.** The interaction of hepatic lipid and glucose metabolism in liver diseases. J Hepatol. 2012;56(4):952–64.
- **89.** Adams LA et al. The natural history of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a population-based cohort study. Gastroenterology. 2005;129(1):113–21.
- **90. Wilkins T, Tadkod A, Hepburn I, Schade RR.** Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: diagnosis and management. Am Fam Physician. 2013;88(1):35–42.
- **91. Chen J, Zhu Y, Zheng Q, Jiang J.** Serum cytokeratin-18 in the diagnosis of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: A meta-analysis. Hepatol Res. 2014;44(8):854–62.
- **92.** Younossi ZM et al. A biomarker panel for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) and NASH-related fibrosis. Obes Surg. 2011;21(4):431–9.
- 93. Canbay Å, Feldstein A, Kronenberger B, Schulze-Osthoff K, Bantel H. [Cytokeratin 18 as marker for non-invasive diagnosis and prognosis of acute and chronic liver diseases]. Z Gastroenterol. 2014;52(3):290–5.
- 94. Bantel H, Schulze-Osthoff K. Mechanisms of cell death in acute liver failure. Front Physiol. 2012;3:79.
- **95. Bechmann LP et al.** Cytokeratin 18-based modification of the MELD score improves prediction of spontaneous survival after acute liver injury. J Hepatol. 2010;53(4):639–47.
- 96. Arun J, Jhala N, Lazenby AJ, Clements R, Abrams GA. Influence of liver biopsy heterogeneity and diagnosis of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in subjects undergoing gastric bypass. Obes Surg. 2007;17(2):155–61.
- **97.** Ratziu V et al. Sampling variability of liver biopsy in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2005;128(7):1898–906.
- 98. Yilmaz Y. Review article: is non-alcoholic fatty liver disease a spectrum, or are steatosis and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis distinct conditions? Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2012;36(9):815–23.
- **99. Machado MV, Cortez-Pinto H.** Non-invasive diagnosis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. A critical appraisal. J Hepatol. 2013;58(5):1007–19.
- 100. Kälsch J et al. Evaluation of Biomarkers of NAFLD in a Cohort of Morbidly Obese Patients. J Nutr Metab. 2011;2011:369168.
- **101.** Kaelsch J et al. Are current normal Ranges settled to high? Prevalence of abnormal Liver Transaminases in a Population-based Cohort the Heinz Nixdorf Recall Study. J Hepatol. 2013;58(1):S540–S541.
- 102. Sowa J-P et al. Novel Algorithm for Non-Invasive Assessment of Fibrosis in NAFLD. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(4):e62439.
- 103. Sowa J-P et al. Non-invasive separation of alcoholic and non-alcoholic liver disease with predictive modeling. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(7):e101444.
- **104.** Bergman RN et al. Why visceral fat is bad: mechanisms of the metabolic syndrome. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2006;14 (Suppl 1):16S–19S.
- 105. Després J-P, Lemieux I. Abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome. Nature. 2006;444(7121):881-7.
- 106. Brookheart RT, Michel Cl, Schaffer JE. As a matter of fat. Cell Metab. 2009;10(1):9–12.
- **107.** Bechmann LP et al. Apoptosis is associated with CD36/fatty acid translocase upregulation in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Liver Int. 2010;30(6):850–9.
- 108. Bonen A et al. Regulation of fatty acid transport by fatty acid translocase/CD36. Proc Nutr Soc. 2004;63(2):245-9.
- **109.** Vinciguerra M et al. Unsaturated fatty acids inhibit the expression of tumor suppressor phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) via microRNA-21 up-regulation in hepatocytes. Hepatology. 2009;49(4):1176–84.

- **110.** Vinciguerra M et al. PTEN down-regulation by unsaturated fatty acids triggers hepatic steatosis via an NF-kappaBp65/mTOR-dependent mechanism. Gastroenterology. 2008;134(1):268–80.
- 111. Koo S-H. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: molecular mechanisms for the hepatic steatosis. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2013;19(3):210–5.
- 112. Day CP, James OF. Steatohepatitis: a tale of two "hits"? Gastroenterology. 1998;114(4):842-5.
- 113. Alkhouri N, Dixon LJ, Feldstein AE. Lipotoxicity in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: not all lipids are created equal. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;3(4):445–51.
- **114.** Cheung O, Sanyal AJ. Abnormalities of lipid metabolism in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Semin Liver Dis. 2008;28(4):351–9.
- **115.** Malhi H, Gores GJ. Molecular mechanisms of lipotoxicity in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Semin Liver Dis. 2008;28(4):360–9.
- 116. Trauner M, Arrese M, Wagner M. Fatty liver and lipotoxicity. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010;1801(3):299-310.
- **117.** Listenberger LL et al. Triglyceride accumulation protects against fatty acid-induced lipotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci. U.S.A. 2003;100(6):3077–82.
- 118. Sydor S et al. Steatosis does not impair liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy. Lab Invest. 2013;93(1):20–30.
- 119. Kubes P, Mehal WZ. Sterile inflammation in the liver. Gastroenterology. 2012;143(5):1158–72.
- **120.** Cai D et al. Local and systemic insulin resistance resulting from hepatic activation of IKK-beta and NF-kappaB. Nat Med. 2005;11(2):183–90.
- **121.** Boden G et al. Free fatty acids produce insulin resistance and activate the proinflammatory nuclear factor-kappaB pathway in rat liver. Diabetes. 2005;54(12):3458–65.
- **122.** Tilg H, Moschen AR. Evolution of inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the multiple parallel hits hypothesis. Hepatology. 2010;52(5):1836–46.
- **123.** Feldstein AE et al. Hepatocyte apoptosis and fas expression are prominent features of human nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology. 2003;125(2):437–43.
- **124.** Wree A, Kahraman A, Gerken G, Canbay A. Obesity affects the liver the link between adipocytes and hepatocytes. Digestion. 2011;83(1–2):124–33.
- **125.** Tilg H, Hotamisligil GS. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Cytokine-adipokine interplay and regulation of insulin resistance. Gastroenterology. 2006;131(3):934–45.
- **126.** Cao H et al. Identification of a lipokine, a lipid hormone linking adipose tissue to systemic metabolism. Cell. 2008;134(6):933–44.
- 127. Skogsberg J et al. ApoB100-LDL acts as a metabolic signal from liver to peripheral fat causing inhibition of lipolysis in adipocytes. PLoS ONE. 2008;3(11):e3771.
- **128.** Byrne CD, Targher G. Ectopic fat, insulin resistance, and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: implications for cardiovascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014;34(6):1155–61.
- 129. Canbay A et al. Overweight patients are more susceptible for acute liver failure. Hepatogastroenterology. 2005;52(65):1516–20.
- 130. Ruhl CE, Everhart JE. Joint effects of body weight and alcohol on elevated serum alanine aminotransferase in the United States population. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;3(12):1260–8.
- **131.** Ertle J et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease progresses to hepatocellular carcinoma in the absence of apparent cirrhosis. Int J Cancer. 2011;128(10):2436–43.
- **132.** Hashimoto E, Tokushige K. Hepatocellular carcinoma in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: Growing evidence of an epidemic? Hepatol Res. 2012;42(1):1–14.
- **133.** Torres DM, Harrison SA. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and noncirrhotic hepatocellular carcinoma: fertile soil. Semin Liver Dis. 2012;32(1):30–8.
- **134.** Heuer M et al. Liver transplantation in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis is associated with high mortality and post-transplant complications: a single-center experience. Digestion. 2012;86(2):107–13.
- **135.** Siddiqui MS et al. Association between high-normal levels of alanine aminotransferase and risk factors for atherogenesis. Gastroenterology. 2013;145(6):1271–1279.e1–3.
- **136.** Ahmed MH, Barakat S, Almobarak AO. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and cardiovascular disease: has the time come for cardiologists to be hepatologists? J Obes. 2012;2012:483135.
- **137.** Paolicchi A et al. Images in cardiovascular medicine. Human atherosclerotic plaques contain gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase enzyme activity. Circulation. 2004;109(11):1440.
- **138.** Schindhelm RK et al. Alanine aminotransferase predicts coronary heart disease events: a 10-year follow-up of the Hoorn Study. Atherosclerosis. 2007;191(2):391–6.

- **139.** Chang Y et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease predicts chronic kidney disease in nonhypertensive and nondiabetic Korean men. Metab Clin Exp. 2008;57(4):569–76.
- 140. Maclean PS, Bergouignan A, Cornier M–A, Jackman MR. Biology's response to dieting: the impetus for weight regain. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2011;301(3):R581–600.
- 141. Johannsen DL et al. Metabolic slowing with massive weight loss despite preservation of fat-free mass. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(7):2489–96.
- **142.** Hall KD et al. Energy balance and its components: implications for body weight regulation. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95(4):989–94.
- **143.** Haufe S et al. Randomized comparison of reduced fat and reduced carbohydrate hypocaloric diets on intrahepatic fat in overweight and obese human subjects. Hepatology. 2011;53(5):1504–14.
- **144.** Gardner CD et al. Comparison of the Atkins, Zone, Ornish, and LEARN diets for change in weight and related risk factors among overweight premenopausal women: the A TO Z Weight Loss Study: a randomized trial. JAMA. 2007;297(9):969–77.
- **145.** Gow ML et al. Impact of dietary macronutrient distribution on BMI and cardiometabolic outcomes in overweight and obese children and adolescents: a systematic review. Nutr Rev. 2014;72(7):453–70.
- **146.** Noakes M et al. Comparison of isocaloric very low carbohydrate/high saturated fat and high carbohydrate/low saturated fat diets on body composition and cardiovascular risk. Nutr Metab. 2006;3:7.
- 147. Claessens M, Van Baak MA, Monsheimer S, Saris WHM. The effect of a low-fat, high-protein or high-carbohydrate ad libitum diet on weight loss maintenance and metabolic risk factors. Int J Obes. 2009;33(3):296–304.
- 148. Wycherley TP, Moran LJ, Clifton PM, Noakes M, Brinkworth GD. Effects of energy-restricted high-protein, low-fat compared with standard-protein, low-fat diets: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;96(6):1281–98.
- 149. Noakes M, Keogh JB, Foster PR, Clifton PM. Effect of an energy-restricted, high-protein, low-fat diet relative to a conventional high-carbohydrate, low-fat diet on weight loss, body composition, nutritional status, and markers of cardiovascular health in obese women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81(6):1298–306.
- **150.** Frary JM, Bjerre KP, Glintborg D, Ravn P. The effect of dietary carbohydrates in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Minerva Endocrinol. 2014 [Epub ahead of print].
- **151.** Ratziu V, Bellentani S, Cortez-Pinto H, Day C, Marchesini G. A position statement on NAFLD/NASH based on the EASL 2009 special conference. J Hepatol. 2010;53(2):372–84.
- **152.** Schuppan D, Schattenberg JM. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: pathogenesis and novel therapeutic approaches. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;28 Suppl 1:68–76.
- **153.** Unick JL et al. Effectiveness of lifestyle interventions for individuals with severe obesity and type 2 diabetes: results from the Look AHEAD trial. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(10):2152–7.
- 154. Janssen V, De Gucht V, Dusseldorp E, Maes S. Lifestyle modification programmes for patients with coronary heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2013;20(4):620–40.
- **155. Kalarchian MA et al.** Family-based treatment of severe pediatric obesity: randomized, controlled trial. Pediatrics. 2009;124(4):1060–8.
- **156.** Savoye M et al. Effects of a weight management program on body composition and metabolic parameters in overweight children: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2007;297(24):2697–704.
- 157. Reinehr T, Kleber M, Toschke AM. Lifestyle intervention in obese children is associated with a decrease of the metabolic syndrome prevalence. Atherosclerosis. 2009;207(1):174–80.
- **158.** Look AHEAD Research Group et al. Cardiovascular effects of intensive lifestyle intervention in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(2):145–54.
- **159.** Meckling KA, Sherfey R. A randomized trial of a hypocaloric high-protein diet, with and without exercise, on weight loss, fitness, and markers of the Metabolic Syndrome in overweight and obese women. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2007;32(4):743–52.
- 160. Poirier P, Després JP. Exercise in weight management of obesity. Cardiol Clin. 2001;19(3):459-70.
- **161.** Ho M et al. Impact of dietary and exercise interventions on weight change and metabolic outcomes in obese children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. JAMA Pediatr. 2013;167(8):759–68.
- **162.** Ho SS, Dhaliwal SS, Hills AP, Pal S. The effect of 12 weeks of aerobic, resistance or combination exercise training on cardiovascular risk factors in the overweight and obese in a randomized trial. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:704.
- **163.** Franz MJ et al. Weight-loss outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of weight-loss clinical trials with a minimum 1-year follow-up. J Am Diet Assoc. 2007;107(10):1755–67.

- **164.** Lazo M et al. Effect of a 12-month intensive lifestyle intervention on hepatic steatosis in adults with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(10):2156–63.
- **165. Perseghin G et al.** Habitual physical activity is associated with intrahepatic fat content in humans. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(3):683–8.
- **166.** Park S, Kim DS, Kang S. Exercise training attenuates cerebral ischemic hyperglycemia by improving hepatic insulin signaling and -cell survival. Life Sci. 2013;93(4):153–60.
- **167.** Carroll S, Dudfield M. What is the relationship between exercise and metabolic abnormalities? A review of the metabolic syndrome. Sports Med. 2004;34(6):371–418.
- 168. Wu T, Gao X, Chen M, Van Dam RM. Long-term effectiveness of diet-plus-exercise interventions vs. diet-only interventions for weight loss: a meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2009;10(3):313–23.
- **169.** Duncan GE et al. Prescribing exercise at varied levels of intensity and frequency: a randomized trial. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165(20):2362–9.
- **170.** Frith J et al. Potential strategies to improve uptake of exercise interventions in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol. 2010;52(1):112–6.
- 171. Dalle Grave R, Centis E, Marzocchi R, El Ghoch M, Marchesini G. Major factors for facilitating change in behavioral strategies to reduce obesity. Psychol Res Behav Manag. 2013;6:101–10.
- **172.** Perri MG et al. Extended-care programs for weight management in rural communities: the treatment of obesity in underserved rural settings (TOURS) randomized trial. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168(21):2347–54.
- 173. Gruber KJ, Haldeman LA. Using the family to combat childhood and adult obesity. Prev Chronic Dis. 2009;6(3):A106.
- 174. Kushner RF. Weight loss strategies for treatment of obesity. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2014;56(4):465-72.
- 175. Colca JR, Tanis ŠP, McDonald WG, Kletzien RF. Insulin sensitizers in 2013: new insights for the development of novel therapeutic agents to treat metabolic diseases. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2014;23(1):1–7.
- **176.** Natali A, Ferrannini E. Effects of metformin and thiazolidinediones on suppression of hepatic glucose production and stimulation of glucose uptake in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetologia. 2006;49(3):434–41.
- 177. Edwards KL, Stapleton M, Weis J, Irons BK. An update in incretin-based therapy: a focus on glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2012;14(10):951–67.
- 178. Irons BK, Weis JM, Stapleton MR, Edwards KL. An update in incretin-based therapy: a focus on dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors. Curr Diabetes Rev. 2012;8(3):169–82.
- 179. Stonehouse AH, Darsow T, Maggs DG. Incretin-based therapies. J Diabetes. 2012;4(1):55–67.
- 180. Subbarayan S, Kipnes M. Sitagliptin: a review. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2011;12(10):1613–22.
- **181. Russell S.** Incretin-based therapies for type 2 diabetes mellitus: a review of direct comparisons of efficacy, safety and patient satisfaction. Int J Clin Pharm. 2013;35(2):159–72.
- 182. Lucas KH, Kaplan-Machlis B. Orlistat a novel weight loss therapy. Ann Pharmacother. 2001;35(3):314-28.
- 183. Sumithran P, Proietto J. Benefit-risk assessment of orlistat in the treatment of obesity. Drug Saf. 2014;37(8):597-608.
- **184.** Cheung BMY, Cheung TT, Samaranayake NR. Safety of antiobesity drugs. Ther Adv Drug Saf. 2013;4(4):171–81.
- 185. Smith SR et al. Multicenter, placebo-controlled trial of lorcaserin for weight management. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(3):245–56.
- **186.** O'Neil PM et al. Randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial of loccaserin for weight loss in type 2 diabetes mellitus: the BLOOM-DM study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012;20(7):1426–36.
- 187. Allison DB et al. Controlled-release phentermine/topiramate in severely obese adults: a randomized controlled trial (EQUIP). Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012;20(2):330–42.
- 188. Garvey WT et al. Two-year sustained weight loss and metabolic benefits with controlled-release phentermine/topiramate in obese and overweight adults (SEQUEL): a randomized, placebo-controlled, phase 3 extension study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95(2):297–308.
- 189. Tziomalos K. Lipid-lowering agents in the management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. World J Hepatol. 2014;6(10):738–44.
- **190.** Rallidis LS, Drakoulis CK, Parasi AS. Pravastatin in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: results of a pilot study. Atherosclerosis. 2004;174(1):193–6.
- **191.** Kimura Y et al. Atorvastatin decreases serum levels of advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) patients with dyslipidemia: clinical usefulness of AGEs as a biomarker for the attenuation of NASH. J Gastroenterol. 2010;45(7):750–7.
- **192.** Kargiotis K et al. Effect of rosuvastatin on non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in patients with metabolic syndrome and hypercholesterolaemia: a preliminary report. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2014;12(3):505–11.

- **193.** Taylor J. 2013 ESH/ESC guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension. Eur Heart J. 2013;34(28):2108–9.
- 194. Georgescu EF, Ionescu R, Niculescu M, Mogoanta L, Vancica L. Angiotensin-receptor blockers as therapy for mild-to-moderate hypertension-associated non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15(8):942–54.
- **195.** Yokohama S et al. Therapeutic efficacy of an angiotensin II receptor antagonist in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology. 2004;40(5):1222–5.
- **196.** Younossi ZM, Reyes MJ, Mishra A, Mehta R, Henry L. Systematic review with meta-analysis: non-alcoholic steatohepatitis a case for personalised treatment based on pathogenic targets. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2014;39(1):3–14.
- **197.** Sanyal AJ et al. A pilot study of vitamin E versus vitamin E and pioglitazone for the treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;2(12):1107–15.
- 198. Sanyal AJ et al. Pioglitazone, vitamin E, or placebo for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(18):1675–85.
- **199.** Kostapanos MS, Kei A, Elisaf MS. Current role of fenofibrate in the prevention and management of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. World J Hepatol. 2013;5(9):470–8.
- 200. Beilfuss A, Sowa JP, Sydor S, Beste M, Bechmann LP, Schlattjan M, et al. Vitamin D counteracts fibrogenic TGF-β signalling in human hepatic stellate cells both receptor-dependently and independently. Gut. 2015;64(5):791–9.
- 201. Druart Č, Alligier M, Salazar N, Neyrinck AM, Delzenne NM. Modulation of the gut microbiota by nutrients with prebiotic and probiotic properties. Adv Nutr. 2014;5(5):624S–33S.
- 202. Rao RS, Kini S. Diabetic and bariatric surgery: a review of the recent trends. Surg Endosc. 2012;26(4):893–903.
- **203.** Schauer PR et al. Bariatric surgery versus intensive medical therapy in obese patients with diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(17):1567–76.
- **204.** Kahraman A et al. Fetuin-A mRNA expression is elevated in NASH compared with NAFL patients. Clin Sci. 2013;125(8):391–400.
- **205.** Klein S et al. Gastric bypass surgery improves metabolic and hepatic abnormalities associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2006;130(6):1564–72.
- **206.** Wree A et al. Adipocyte cell size, free fatty acids and apolipoproteins are associated with non-alcoholic liver injury progression in severely obese patients. Metab Clin Exp. 2014;63(12):1542–52.
- **207.** Chalasani N et al. The diagnosis and management of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: practice Guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, American College of Gastroenterology, and the American Gastroenterological Association. Hepatology. 2012;55(6):2005–23.
- 208. Buchwald H, Estok R, Fahrbach K, Banel D, Sledge I. Trends in mortality in bariatric surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Surgery. 2007;142(4):621–632; discussion 632–635.
- **209.** Ikramuddin S et al. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass vs intensive medical management for the control of type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia: the Diabetes Surgery Study randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2013;309(21):2240–9.
- 210. Hutter MM et al. First report from the American College of Surgeons Bariatric Surgery Center Network: laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy has morbidity and effectiveness positioned between the band and the bypass. Ann Surg. 2011;254(3):410–420; discussion 420–422.
- **211.** Schauer PR et al. Bariatric surgery versus intensive medical therapy for diabetes 3 year outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(21):2002–13.
- **212.** Castellini G et al. Psychological effects and outcome predictors of three bariatric surgery interventions: a 1-year follow-up study. Eat Weight Disord. 2014;19(2):217–24.
- 213. Genco A et al. BioEnterics Intragastric Balloon (BIB): a short-term, double-blind, randomised, controlled, crossover study on weight reduction in morbidly obese patients. Int J Obes (Lond). 2006;30(1):129–33.
- 214. Forlano R et al. Effect of the BioEnterics intragastric balloon on weight, insulin resistance, and liver steatosis in obese patients. Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;71(6):927–33.
- **215.** Lee Y–M et al. Intragastric balloon significantly improves nonalcoholic fatty liver disease activity score in obese patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a pilot study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;76(4):756–60.
- **216.** Koehestanie P et al. The feasibility of delivering a duodenal-jejunal bypass liner (EndoBarrier) endoscopically with patients under conscious sedation. Surg Endosc. 2014;28(1):325–30.
- 217. Gersin KS et al. Open-label, sham-controlled trial of an endoscopic duodenojejunal bypass liner for preoperative weight loss in bariatric surgery candidates. Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;71(6):976–82.
- 218. Patel SRH, Hakim D, Mason J, Hakim N. The duodenal-jejunal bypass sleeve (EndoBarrier Gastrointestinal Liner) for weight loss and treatment of type 2 diabetes. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2013;9(3):482–4.





Leinenweberstr. 5 79108 Freiburg Germany